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DECI SI ON

HESSE, Chairperson: The San D ego Community Col | ege
District (District) excepts to the attached proposed deci sion
by an adm nistrative law judge (ALJ) of the Public Enploynent
Rel ati ons Board (PERB or Board). In that decision, the ALJ
ruled that the District violated sections 3543.5(a), (b), and

(c) of the Educational Enpl oynment Rel ations Act (EERAor Act)® acey -

'EERA is codified at Governnent Code section 3540 et
seq. Unless otherwise indicated, all statutory references
herein are to the Government Code.

Section 3543.5 provides, in pertinent part, as foll ows:

It shall be unlawful for a public school
enpl oyer to:

(a) Inpose or threaten to inpose reprisals
on enpl oyees, to discrimnate or threaten to



when it failed to bargain with the San D ego Adult Educators,
American Federation of Teachers/California Federation of
Teachers, AFL-CI O, (SDAE or Union) about the decision, and the
effects of the decision, to contract out work perfornmed by
certain bargaining unit nenbers. After a full review of the
record below, the Board affirnms the ALJ's decision, consistent
with the follow ng determ nations and order.

FACTS

On March 9, 1983, the District, through the Board of
Trustees, decided to discontinue offering |anguage classes in
German, French and Spani sh through the fee-based program The
cl asses were not given for credit, but were taught by
certificated unit enployees represented by SDAE. The teachers
for the German, French and Spanish classes were |ong-tine
District enployees, and were paid according to the regular
sal ary schedule applicable to all full-time D strict
instructors at the community col |l ege. Although fees were
charged students who took the classes, the fees did not cover
the expenses the District incurred by offering the classes, due

al nost exclusively to the salaries received by the teachers.

di scrim nate agai nst enpl oyees, or otherw se
to interfere with, restrain, or coerce

enpl oyees because of their exercise of
rights guaranteed by this chapter.

(b) Deny to enpl oyee organi zations rights
guaranteed to themby this chapter.

(c) Refuse or fail to neet and negotiate in
good faith with an exclusive representative.



Thus, the decision to discontinue fee-based French, German and
Spani sh | anguage cl asses was nmade sol ely because of an econom c
condition caused by the salaries received by the instructors in
t hose cl asses.

Al nost inmediately, and continuing for several nonths
thereafter, the District began to receive pressure fromthe
public to restore classes in the three | anguages. This
pressure took the form of appearances at Board of Trustee
neetings, as well as letters to the District. All those who
were heard from expressed a desire that the District reinstate
the fee-based Gernman, French and Spani sh cl asses.

On May 4, 1983, the public again nmade several presentations
at the Board of Trustees neeting, urging that the D strict
restore the classes. The board, in response to this pressure,
directed Chancellor Garland Peed to investigate the cost of and
alternatives to the restoration of the foreign |anguage
classes. In the neantine, the three affected teachers who had
been laid off initiated hearings under the Education Code,
protesting their layoffs. On May 10, a proposed decision was
issued by a hearing officer, ruling that the discontinuance of
the | anguage classes was proper and that therefore the
termnation of the teachers was perm ssible under the statute.
The proposed decision was adopted by the Board of Trustees at
its May 23 neeting.

In addition to adopting the proposed decision concerning
the teacher term nations, the Board of Trustees at the May 23
nmeeting discussed again alternatives to discontinuing the

3



| anguage cl asses. There were 'essential'ly four alternatives
present ed: (1) students could be urged to take regular,
col l ege-credit language classes in lieu of the fee-based,
non-credit classes; (2) the Parks and Recreation Departnent
could be asked to take over adm nistration and financing of the
| anguage cl asses; (3) the YMCA could be approached to see if it
woul d offer the |anguage cl asses; and (4) the San D ego
Comunity College District Foundation, Inc. (Foundation) could
be asked to offer the sane classes that had been elimnated by
the District.

The Foundation was established sonetine in the m d-1970s as
a general non-profit corporation. The stated purpose and
objective of the Foundation is to assist and pronote the
educational activities of the District. The Foundation has no
menbers and is governed by a five-nenber board of directors:
According to June 1983 amendnents to the original bylaws, each
i ndi vi dual nenber of the Foundation board is designated by a
menber of the District Board of Trustees. At the time of the
instances relevant to this matter, Garland Peed was not only
Chancellor for the District, but he also served as Foundation
Presi dent . 2

After the alternatives were discussed, the Board of

Trustees instructed the Chancellor to contact the Foundation to

2The Foundation had only one office, and it was |ocated
in the Chancellor's office in the District building. Rent was
paid by the Foundation to the District for use of this space.



see if it could offer the French, German and Spani sh | anguage
classes fornerly offered by the District's fee-based program

If so, then the Chancellor was to prepare the necessary papers
to enable the Foundation to take over the cl asses.

The District would continue to offer other |anguage classes
in its fee-based program including |anguages such as Farsi,
Swedi sh and Tagalog. The District could afford to continue to
of fer those |anguage classes because the instructors of those
cl asses were paid on an hourly basis, rather than on the
certificated salary schedule as were the teachers of the
French, Spanish and German cl asses. Thus, the District did not
| ose any noney by offering those classes, as the instructors’
salaries were net through the fees received from the students
who enrolled in the classes. The Foundation, in offering the
French, German and Spani sh | anguage cl asses, would pay the
instructors on an hourly basis based on class size rather than
on teaching experience and, thus, would pay to the affected
| anguage teachers an anmount nuch snaller than the teachers
enpl oyed by the District. On June 2, the deans of the various
canpuses in the District were told to begin hiring teachers for
the Foundation |anguage classes. Evidently some of the fornmer
enpl oyees of the District classes were hired by the
Foundation. The actual contract between the D strict and the
Foundati on regardi ng French, Spanish, and Gernman cl ass
instruction was entered into on June 22.

From June through August, public criticism of the
District's decision not to offer fee-based |anguage classes in
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French, German and Spanish continued. In testinony taken by
the Board of Trustees on August 3, several students and forner
| anguage faculty nmenbers commented that singling out the
French, German and Spani sh teachers was discrimnatory because
the District was still offering other fee-based |anguage

cl asses.

On August 22, the Trustees agreed to ask the Foundation to
teach all fee-based |anguage classes fornerly taught by the
District, including the classes in Tagal og, Farsi, Swedish, etc,

On Decenber 21, 1983, the SDAE filed an unfair practice
charge alleging a violation of section 3543.5(b) and (c). The
charged alleged that the District violated the Act by: (1)
interfering with the Union's right to represent nenbers and
denying the Union the right to represent its nenbers in
negotiations over the contract with the Foundation; and (2)
failing to nmeet and negotiate in good faith with the Union over
the transfer of work fromthe D strict to the Foundation. In
ot her words, by discontinuing the fee-based | anguage cl asses,
term nating permanent faculty menbers, and contracting wth the
Foundation to teach |anguage cl asses, the District failed to
bargain wth the Union over those decisions, and thereby
interfered with the Union's right to represent its menbers on
this particular issue.

The charge was filed wwth PERB in a tinely manner, but
there is no proof of service on the District attached to the

original charge. The regional attorney evidently noted this



when he communicated with the Union. A letter fromthe
District to the regional attorney references the charges being
received by the District sonetine in January 1984.

On April 30, 1984, the Union filed an anended charge
alleging that the District (1) interfered with, restrained, and
coerced enpl oyees because of the enpl oyees' exercise of rights
to join and participate in the Union; (2) interfered with the
Union's right to represent its nmenbers; and (3) failed to neet
and negotiate in good faith with the Union over the transfer of
work, referred to in the charge as "sub-contracting.” Wth the
amended charge there was a proof of service; however, it showed
proof of service on PERB, not on the respondent. A cover
letter to PERB indicated that a copy of the charge was being
sent to the District concurrently with the PERB filing.

The conplaint that issued on the charge sinply states that
the conduct of the respondent "alleged in the charge designated
as Case No. LA-CE-1905, served during January 1984 [and] as
amended and served on April 30, 1984 . . . states a prinma facie
case. ... " The answer was filed on June 25, 1984, and inter
alia, the District denied the allegations in the charge.

Several affirmative defenses were al so raised, such as: (1) the
Foundation is a separate entity and is not under the control of
the District; (2) the charge is barred by the statute of
l[imtations as it was not served on the respondent until after
the six-nmonth time limt; (3) the District cannot control the
Foundation, which is not a public school enployer under EERA;
and (4) PERB lacks jurisdiction over the Foundati on.
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THE ALJ'S DECI SI ON

The District initially noved to dism ss the conplaint on
the grounds, inter alia, that it had not been served within the
six-month statute of limtations set out in section
3541.5(a)(!),3 PERB Regul ation 32615(b),* and PERB
Regul ati on 32140.° The District argued that, because service

was not effected until January 1984, the charge could not be

3section 3541.5(a)(l) reads, in pertinent part:

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

(a) Any enpl oyee, enployee organization, or
enpl oyer shall have the right to file an
unfair practice charge, except that the
board shall not do either of the follow ng:
(1) issue a conplaint in respect of any
charge based upon an alleged unfair practice
occurring nore than six nonths prior to the
filing of the charge.

‘PERB Regul ations are codified at California _
Adm nistrative Code, title 8, Part I1l, section 31001 et seq.
Regul ation 32615(b) reads, as follows:

(b) Service and proof of service [of the
charge] on the respondent pursuant to
section 32140 are required.

®Regul ation 32140 reads, in pertinent part:

(a) All documents referred to in these
regul ations requiring "service" or required
to be acconpanied by "proof of service,"”
except subpoenas, shall be considered
"served" by the Board or a party when
personal ly delivered or deposited in the
first-class mail properly addressed. All
docunents required to be served shall
include a "proof of service" affidavit or
decl aration signed under penalty of perjury
whi ch meets the requirements of section
1013(a) of the Code of Civil Procedure.



considered filed until then, nore than six nonths after the
date of the contract between the District and the Foundati on.
The ALJ rejected the notion to dism ss because the respondent
could show no prejudice due to the late service, and the
deficiency was cured in a reasonable amount of tine.

At the hearing on the nerits, the District's various
argunents can be grouped into three major areas: (1) the
Foundation is not a public school enployer under EERA section
354O.I(k),6 and thus PERB has no jurisdiction over its
activities; (2) the District did not contract out work, it
nerely ceased to offer classes that were then offered by a
private corporation; (3) the SDAE waived any right to negotiate
by failing to request negotiations after it had notice of the
District's intentions; and (4) the established past practice of
the District was to have the Foundati on take over courses that
the District no longer wi shed to offer.

The ALJ rejected all of the District's argunments and rul ed
that the decision to contract out |anguage classes, made in
June and formalized with the Foundation on June 22 was a
unilateral change. The ALJ noted that the original decision to

contract out, involving the French, Spanish, and Gernman

°Section 3540.1 (k) reads:

(k) "Public school enployer"” or "enployer"
means the governing board of a school
district, a school district, a county board
of education, or a county superintendent of
school s.



cl asses, was a permissible decision because, at the tine the
deci sion was made, the District had decided not to offer these
cl asses, a decision that fell w thin managenent's prerogative.
As to PERB' s jurisdiction over the Foundation, the ALJ
concurred that PERB had none. Thus, any renedy could only be
directed to the District and not to the Foundati on.
Accordingly, an order was proposed that would restore the
status quo ante of June 22 and woul d nake whol e the anount of
salaries lost by |anguage teachers laid off due to the
contracting out.

DI SCUSSI ON

As a threshold question, we confront first the argunent
that the charge was untinely because service was not
effectuated wthin the statutory six-nonth period, although the
charge was filed with PERB within six rmonths.?’

O her jurisdictions are not hel pful in giving PERB
gui dance, because nost states' |abor |aws are nodel ed after the
Nati onal Labor Relations Act (NLRA) which requires

that no conplaint shall issue based on any

unfair labor practice occurring nore than
six months prior to the filing of the charge

7The charging party failed to file its "proof of service"
showi ng service on the District for either the original or the
amended charge. The District, however, does not dispute that
it did receive the first charge, albeit later than the date of
filing wth PERB. Further, the District has never denied that
it received the anmended charge, even though the proof of
service does not indicate service on the District. As noted
above, the cover letter sent with the amended charge to PERB
references that the District was served concurrently with the
PERB filing.
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with the board and the service of a copy
t hereof upon the persons agai nst whom such
charge is made. (29 USC sec. 160(b).)?

That is, in nbst states service upon the parties is required by
statute rather than by regulation. © Likew se, states that do
not require proof of service by statute rarely have regul ations
that address the issue of service. Those that do require such
proof do not use |anguage anal ogous to the specific |anguage of

the Californiaregul ation.©10

8The nature of the NLRA, administered by the Nationa
Labor Relations Board (NLRB), was reiterated in the N nth
Circuit in the case Hospital and Service Enployees Union, Loca
399 v. NLRB, 798 F.2d 1245 [123 LRRM 2234]. In that case, the
charge was tinely filed within the six nonths. The respondent,
however, never received the charges from the charging party.
When the NLRB twice nailed the charges to the respondent, there
was no delivery due to the wong address being used.
Eventual |y, a conplaint was issued and the respondent answered
the conplaint, even though it had been sent to the sanme w ong
address to which the charges had been sent on two separate
occasions. The NLRB dism ssed the conplaint on the grounds
that no service was effectuated. The Court of Appeal
reversed. The Court of Appeal noted that the charge was filed
within the six nonths and that the respondent had "actual
notice" wthin that same six-nonth period. Only if the
enpl oyer had been able to show prejudice would the court have
consi dered dismssing the charge. Furthernore, the conplaint
issued by the NLRB and the answer filed by the respondent were
both conpleted within the six-nonth statute of limtations.

9see, e.g., Mchigan Conpiled Laws, section 423.216 "No
conpl aint shall 1ssue based upon any unfair |abor practice
occurring nore than six nonths prior to the filing of the
charge wwth the Conm ssion and the service of a copy thereof
upon the person against whom the charge is nmade ... " Statutes
inlllinols, lowa, and Vernont inpose simlar service
requirenents.

10se'See, e.g., title 39, chapter 31 Revi sed Code of
Mont ana, section 39-31-404: "No notice of hearing shall be
i ssued based upon any unfair |abor practice nore than six
nont hs before filing of the charge wwth the board."” Nevada
Revi sed Statutes section 288.110(4) provides: "The board nay
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Waile this Board has ruled that a failure to serve a party

will result in a dismssal of an appeal (Los Angel es Community

Col  ege District (1984) PERB Decision No. 395), it has also

recogni zed that where the respondent has notice, |ate service,
comng after a petition for decertification has been tinely

filed, wll not bar a petition. (Santa Monica-Mlibu Unified

School District (1987) PERB Order No. Ad-163.)

Here, we note that the charging party has conplied with the
statute's six-nonth requirenment. PERB regul ations, however,
were not conplied with in a tinmely manner. \Wen considering
the charging party's non-conpliance with the Board' s service
requi renents, we should read and apply PERB regulations in
light of their intended purpose, that is, to protect a
respondent from stale clains or to prevent prejudice because a
respondent was unable to defend itself due to the late service.

Here, the respondent alleges no prejudice. Moreover, we
note that the District was served with, and answered, the

conplaint in this matter.* Thus, we concur with the ALJ in

not consider any conplaint or appeal filed nore than six nonths
after the occurrence which is the subject of the conplaint or

appeal ." See also, New Jersey Statutes Annotated section
34:13A-5.4(c) chapter 34:13A: "Provided that no conpl ai nt
shal | issue based upon any unfair practice occurring nore than

six months prior to the filing of the charge."

llwe note the ruling of the Eighth Circuit Court of
Appeal in Thonsen v. United Parcel Service (1986) 742 F.2d 115
[122 LRRM 2865], cert. den. (1987) 107 S.Ct. 1886. That court
declined to adopt the NLRB rule of service within six nonths in
a lawsuit brought under a hybrid section 301/ Duty of Fair
Representati on case, and instead bal anced the equities in favor

12



hol ding that the late service was not fatal to the charging
party's cause of action.

As to the ALJ's conclusion that the Foundation is not an
enpl oyer under EERA, we also concur. Although there was nuch
over | appi ng of managenent, purpose, supervision, and operation,
key elenments prevent the Foundation from being considered a
public enployer. There is no common ownership that would
permt a finding that the Foundation is an alter ego of the

District. (Crawford Door Sales Co. (1976) 226 NLRB 1144.)1'2

Nor, because of the lack of conmon ownership, can the
Foundation and the District be considered a single enployer.

(Tel evi si on Broadcast Technicians Union, Local 1264 v.

Broadcast Service (1965) 380 US 255.) Finally, the Foundation

cannot be an ostensible agent of the District. Even though the
District may inadvertently have caused third parties to believe
that the Foundation was its agent, California |law requires that
it also be shown that third parties changed position in
reliance upon that representation. No evidence was presented
here to show any change in position.

Thus, wunder no theory can the Board exercise jurisdiction
over the Foundation and, for purposes of this case, the

Foundation will be considered a separate enployer whose own

of a plaintiff who filed the lawsuit in a tinmely manner but did
not effectuate service at the sane tine.

~ ™If the Foundation were the alter e?o of the District,
its enpl oyees would be subject to the collective bargaining
agr eenent .
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enpl oyees are not protected by EERA. This finding, however,
does not absolve the District of liability. Rather, it proves
a point the District wishes to ignore, that is, work perforned
by bargaining unit nmenbers is now being perfornmed by nonunit
enpl oyees, at the specific behest of the District. Surely this
is contracting out in its nost basic form

The District initially raised the argunent that it had the
right to discontinue services, that is, it had the right to
decide not to offer fee-based |anguage classes. This is
correct, as the decision of what shall be offered in any

curriculumis strictly one for managenent. (Stanislaus County

Department of Education (1985) PERB Deci sion No. 556.)

When, however, the District received public rebuke because
of its decision, it then sought alternatives to discontinuing
the | anguage cl asses. By contracting with the Foundation, the
District continued to offer this service, albeit by using
instructors supplied by the Foundation.'® |f the District
had truly ceased to offer the |anguage instruction service, it
woul d not have contracted with the Foundation at all, and the
Foundati on woul d have been free to decide for itself to offer
the | anguage classes if it so desired. But because the

District contracted with the Foundation, it tacitly admtted

BRel ati onshi ps between community college districts and
organi zations |like the Foundation are hardly those of strangers.
| nstead, those relationships are regul ated by Education Code
section 72670 and 78020-23. G ven the stated purpose of this
Foundation (supra, p. 4), and the benefits to the District arising
out of these two contracts, we find the dissent's focus on the
Foundation's paynents to the District not to be significant.
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that it wished to continue to offer certain classes, despite
its earlier position that it was discontinuing those services.
Therefore, contracting with the Foundation was a unil ateral
removal of work from the bargaining unit.'* The unilatera
change was based solely on the high cost of instructors
salaries. Unilateralismnotivated solely by |abor costs is

unlawful. (State of California (DPA) (1987) PERB Deci sion No.

648-S.)

The sole defense left to the District is that the Union
wai ved its right to negotiate over the decision and the effects
of the deci sion.

The March 9 decision to discontinue French, German, and
Spani sh fee-based | anguage classes was within its prerogative.
No duty to bargain that decision fell on the District. But, as
a result of public outcry, the District set in notion a course
of events that led to the contracting out of all of the other
f ee- based | anguage classes. Dd the Union sleep on its rights,
or could it have foreseen the consequences of that first

deci si on?

l4we find the dissent's reliance on Fremont Union High
School District (1987) PERB Decision No. 65110 be 1 napposite.
I'n that case, there was a substantial gap of sone four years
before LaVerne College began offering its summer school.
Second, at no tinme was the public led to believe that the
sunmer school was offered by Frenont instead of LaVerne.
Finally, if LaVerne had not offered the summer school cl asses,
the evidence clearly showed that there would have been no
summer school. Here, the District quite obviously wanted the
Eengfits of offering the |anguage courses w thout any of the
urden.
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Charging party Exhibit No. 20 is the board action docket
item for May 23 and references alternatives concerning the
funding of certain discontinued classes. Five alternatives
were listed, including keeping the classes within the D strict
itself, requesting that Parks and Recreation provide courses,
or contracting with another agency such as the Foundati on.
Considering that the contracting out option was one anong five
alternatives, we do not view this docket itemas specific
enough to give notice that the District had indeed determ ned

to contract with the Foundati on.

The mnutes of the May 23 neeting were only slightly nore
specific: "M. Gady noved that the Chancellor be directed to
inform the Foundation that the District suggests that it offer
certain classes that the District is unable to offer: and that
the chancellor prepare the necessary contracts between the
District and the Foundation to facilitate the offering of those
cl asses by the Foundation." At that point, the D strict was
unsure if the Foundation was able to offer classes or if it
desired to. Thus, no action by the District could yet be said
to give notice that a decision would be made that woul d trigger
a request to bargain.

The next tinme the contract with the Foundation is nentioned
in the agenda was on June 22, when the Trustees were asked to
ratify the contract. A request to bargain on that day would
have been futile as the contract had actually been negoti ated
and nerely needed adoption by the Trustees. Thus, the Union
was never notified, formally or informally, that unit work
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woul d be done by nonunit enpl oyees, until the decision was
final

Concerni ng the August 22 action, the docket item sumrary
says, "Consideration of answers to questions raised at the
August 3, 1983 board neeting by concerned citizens/students re
the cancellation of certain foreign |anguage classes in the
continuing education program"” The recommendation that the
Chancel |l or nmade on the docket itemwas, "It is recomended that
the board discuss this item and issue appropriate instructions
to the chancellor.” Certainly, there is no reason to believe at
that point that the District intended again to contract with
the Foundation to offer certain |anguage classes. Thus, the
board agenda al one does not provide adequate notice to the
Union that the District was intending to make a unil ateral
change.

The remaining question is whether the presence of the Union
president at the Chancellor's council neetings prior to the
board neeting, at which various itens were discussed,
constitutes adequate notice. Could it be fairly said that the
Uni on knew about the pending action and that it did not request
negoti ati ons?

No mnutes were introduced concerning those neetings.

Thus, we have only the testinony of the Chancellor and the
testinony of the Union as to whether there was adequate

di scussion. The ALJ ruled that the discussion was not
substantial enough to give rise to notice. Furthernore, the
pur pose of the Chancellor's neeting was nerely to review each
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agenda item not to predict what the Board of Trustees woul d
actually do. Therefore, even if the itens were di scussed at
the Chancellor's nmeeting, such a discussion would not
necessarily include the know edge of action the board would
actually take based on their own discussion at the Board of
Trustees' neeting. |

Based on the foregoing, we conclude that the Union did not
wai ve its right to negotiate. The District violated EERA
section 3543.5(c) when it contracted out bargaining unit work
wi t hout providing the Union with notice and an opportunity to
negoti at e.

REMEDY

In addition to the standard order to bargain the decision
to contract out and the effects of that decision, the ALJ
ordered that the contract with the Foundation be rescinded and
the instructors laid off on August 22 be reinstated.

Wiile the Board has the authority to order reinstatenent
when appropriate, we decline to exercise that power here.
Rei nst atement presunes that the District would not have laid
off these teachers but for this opportunity to contract out.
Based on the District's initial decision in March to cease
of fering certain | anguage classes unconditionally, we find it
hi ghly probable that the District intended to get out of the
busi ness of fee-based |anguage cl asses, whether the Foundation
was available to step in or not. The evidence does not give us
any reasonable belief that the District intends to offer these
cl asses anynore. So long as it exercises its right not to
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offer these classes, reinstatement is not appropriate.®

Back pay is appropriate, however, for those teachers who
were laid off as a result of the August 22 action. The pay,
with interest at the rate of 10 percent per annum and m nus any
interimearnings, shall be owed fromthe date of the unlawf ul
| ayof fs until expiration of the contract with the Foundati on.
Should the District have extended or renewed the contract under
the sanme conditions as the original contract, the back pay
woul d extend to that period as well.

The back pay award is not available to the instructors laid
off on March 9, however. That layoff occurred as a result of a
decision, later rescinded, to elimnate certain classes. The
District shall be required, however, to rescind any current
contractual arrangenent with the Foundation to provide foreign
| anguage courses that were contracted for on June 22 and
August 23, 1983. Such agreements with the Foundation are the
result of unlawful decisions to contract out bargaining unit
‘work. The District must bargain any future decision to
contract out, and the effects of that decision. Said
bar gai ni ng shall continue until agreenent is reached or until
the parties have exhausted inpasse procedures.

ORDER

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, conclusions of |aw,

and the entire record in this case, and pursuant to EERA

>Should the District again offer these classes,
rei nstatenent would be appropriate.
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section 3541.5(c), it is hereby ORDERED that the San D ego
Community College District, its governing board, and its
representatives shall:

A.  CEASE AND DESI ST FROM

1. Failing and refusing to neet and negotiate in good
faith with the exclusive representative by taking unil ateral
action on matters within the scope of representation,
specifically with reference to the decision, and the effects of
the decision, to contract with the San Diego Community Coll ege
District Foundation, Inc. for the provision of teaching
services formerly provided by nmenbers of the adult education
faculty bargaining unit.

2. Denying to the San Di ego Adult Educators, Local 4289,
Anerican Federation of Teachers/California Federation of
Teachers, AFL-CIO its right to represent unit menbers by
failing and refusing to negotiate about matters within the
scope of representation.

3. Interfering with enpl oyees represented by the San D ego
Adul t Educators, Local 4289 because of the exercise of their
right to select an exclusive representative to neet and
negotiate with the enployer on their behalf by unilaterally
changing matters within the scope of representation wthout
first providing the exclusive representative with notice and

the opportunity to neet and negotiate about such matters.

B. TAKE THE FOLLOW NG AFFI RVATI VE ACTI ONS DESI GNED TO
EFFECTUATE THE POLI CI ES OF THE EDUCATI ONAL EMPLOYMENT RELATI ONS

ACT:
1. Meet and negotiate with the San D ego Adult Educators
20



Associ ation, Local 4289 about the decisions of June 22 and
August 22, 1983 (and the effects of these decisions), to enter
into an agreenment with the Foundation for the provision of
foreign |anguage classes that were fornmerly taught by unit
enpl oyees until the parties reach agreenent or exhaust the
statutory inpasse procedure.

2. Make the enployees laid off August 22, 1983, whole for
any |oss of wages or benefits as a result of the unlawful
uni | ateral change, fromthe effective date of the unil ateral
change until the expiration of the contract with the Foundati on.
Should the original contract have been extended or renewed, the
back pay will continue through the succeeding contract ternmns.

3. Rescind any current contractual arrangenent with the
Foundation to provide foreign |anguage courses that were
contracted for on June 22, 1983 and August 22, 1983, until
bar gai ni ng has been conpleted, either by agreenent or until
i npasse procedures have been exhaust ed.

4. 1f, within one year of the date this Decision becones
final, the District again offers fee-based | anguage cl asses,
offer reinstatenent to those enployees who were placed on
| ayof f status by action of the District board of trustees on
August 22, 1983.

5. Wthin thirty-five (35) days after this Decision is no
| onger subject to reconsideration, post at all school sites and
all other work l|ocations where notices to unit enployees are
customarily placed, copies of the Notice to enployees attached
as an Appendi x hereto. The Notice nust be signed by an
aut hori zed agent of the District indicating that the District
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will conmply with the terns of this Order. Such posting shall
be maintained for a period of thirty (30) consecutive
wor kdays. Reasonabl e steps shall be taken to insure that the
Notice is not reduced in size, altered, defaced, or covered by
any other material.

6. Witten notification of the actions taken to conply
with this Order shall be nmade to the Los Angel es Regi onal
Director of the Public Enploynent Relations Board in accordance

with the director's instructions.

Menbers Craib and Shank joined in this Decision.

Menber Porter's concurrence and di ssent begin on page 23.

22



Porter, Menber, concurring and di ssenting:

Ti mel i ness of the Charge

As to the threshold issue concerning the tineliness of the
charge, | concur that the charge was tinely filed within the six
nonths charge filing period set forth in Governnment Code section
3541.5, and that service is not a required conponent of an
effective filing under that statute.

In the instant case, the Charging Party filed the charge
within the applicable six-nmonth period but did not serve a copy
t hereof on the Respondent. Wile CGovernnment Code section 3541.5
proscribes the issuance of a conplaint based upon such a charge
when the alleged unfair practice occurred nore than six nonths
"prior to the filing of the charge,"” there is no reference in
the statute as to any service of a copy of the charge on the
Respondent within the six-nmonth period. Nor is there in the
general provisions of the Government Code (CGov. Code, secs.
5-24), of which EERA is a part, or in EERA's own genera
definition section (Gv. Code, sec. 3540.1), any definition
of the term "filing" as nmeaning or including service.

In a procedure anal ogous to EERA section 3541.5, wth
respect to the tineliness of the commencenent of civil actions,
Code of Gvil Procedure section 350 provides that, "An action
is commenced, within the nmeaning of this Title [ the Tine of
Commencing Gvil Actions], when the conplaint is filed." In

such cases, the courts have held that the filing of the conpl aint
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itself suffices to neet the tineline, and that service of a copy
of the conplaint and/or summons on the defendant/respondent is
not necessary for the filing to be tinely. (Code of Civ. Proc,

sec. 350; Pinmental v. Gty of San Francisco (1863) 21 Cal. 351,

Waters v. Superior Court (1962) 58 Cal.2d 885, 891, Ray v.
| ndustrial Accident Conm ssion (1956) 146 Cal . App.2d 393, 397,
and see Ingramv. Superior Court (1979) 98 Cal.App.3d 483, 495

(dis. opn.); 3 Wtkin, Cal. Proc. (3d ed. 1985) Actions, sec.
506, pp. 531-532.)

In contrast, the applicable provision in the Agricultura
Labor Rel ations Act (ALRA) which was enacted by the Legislature
in the sane year (1975) it enacted EERA ! prescribes that the
al l eged unfair |abor practice nmust not have occurred nore than
six nonths "prior to the filing of the charge with the board Eﬂg
the service of a copy thereof upon the person agai nst whom such

charge is made. ... " (Labor Code, sec. 1160.2, enphasis
added.)?

Thus, we may not by interpretation or inplication insert
a service requirenment into the six-nonth charge filing period

del i neated by CGovernnment Code section 3541.5. (Cadiz v.

lEErRA: Stats. 1975, ch. 961; ALRA: Stats. 3d Ex. Sess.
1975, ch. 1.

°AS noted by the majority, this additional requirement

of service is also found in the National Labor Relations Act:
29 US. C sec. 160, subdiv. (b).
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Agricultural Labor Relations Board (1979) 92 Cal . App.3d 365,

371-372, hg. den.; Regents of the University of California v.

Public Enpl oynment Rel ations Board & Laborers Local 1276, LI UNA,

AFL-Cl O (1985) 168 Cal . App.3d 937, 944-945; Bailey v. Superior
Court (1977) 19 Cal.3d 970, 977-978; Estate of McDill (1975)

14 Cal.3d 831, 838.) Likewise, while this Board may i npl enent
EERA t hrough the adoption of procedural regulations to
effectuate it (Gov. Code, sec. 3541.3, subdiv. (g)), the Board
may not pronulgate or apply such a regulation so as to create a

substantive change in EERA's provisions. (J.R Norton Co. V.

Agricultural Labor Relations Board (1979) 26 Cal.3d 1, 29;
Harris v. ABC Appeals Board (1964) 228 Cal.App.2d 1, 6, hg. den.;
Morris v. WIllians (1967) 67 Cal.2d 733, 748; Witconb Hotel,

Inc: v: Calif: Enploynment Conm ssion (1944) 24 Cal .2d 753, 759;

Calif. Welfare Rghts Organ, v. Brian (1974) 11 Cal.3d 237,

242-243, cert. den. 419 U. S. 1022; Cadiz v. Agricultural Labor

Rel ati ons Board (1979) 92 Cal.App.3d 365, 372-373, hg. den.) In

this regard, PERB' s regulations dealing with the filing of an
unfair practice charge prescribe service of a copy of the
charge, on the respondent. (Cal. Adm n. Code, tit. 8, sec.
33615, subd, (b).) Wile it is appropriate to require service
of the charge on the respondent in order to facilitate the
processing of the charge and to apprise the respondent of the
filing of the charge, the regulation may not be applied so as to

necessitate service as an essential requirenment for a tinely
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filing pursuant to Governnent Code section 3541.5.3

The Transfer or Contracting Qut of Bargaining Unit Wrk

The District is alleged to have commtted an unfair practice
by either having transferred bargaining unit work to non-unit
enpl oyees or by having contracted out/subcontracted such
bargaining unit work. The ALJ found that the District and the
Foundation did not constitute a "single enployer,"” that the
Foundati on was not an "alter ego" of the District, and that
the Foundation was a separate enployer. The ALJ accordingly
concluded that "there is no basis for deciding that the
District's action in contracting with the Foundation anounted to
a transfer of unit work to non-unit enployees.” Instead, the ALJ

found it appropriate to characterize the District's action as "a
subcontracting or contracting out of services.”

My coll eagues agree with the ALJ—and | concur—that there
is no "single enployer"” or "alter ego" relationship between
the District and the Foundation, and that the Foundation is a
separate enployer. The majority then asserts that since work

previously perfornmed by bargaining unit nenbers (enployed

]I ndependent of section 3541.5, certain consequences nay
occur where service is not effected pursuant to PERB Regul ation
32615. For exanple, the charge may not be processed unti
service is acconplished, or an adverse ruling in a subsequent
evidentiary notion may result when the respondent can
denonstrate prejudice due to the lack of service. However
since service is not a required conponent of a tinmely filing
under section 3541.5, any question as to whether the respondent
was prejudiced by the lack of such service is not germane to the
timeliness issue under section 3541.5. -
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by the District) is now being performed by "non-unit enpl oyees
(enmpl oyed by the Foundation) at the specific behest of the
District, that "[s]urely this is contracting out in its nost
basic form™

PERB case law, in accord with private sector case | aw,
establ i shes what constitutes an unlawful wunilateral transfer

of bargaining unit work to non-unit enployees. An unl awful

transfer occurs where an enployer unilaterally transfers work
done by its enployees in one bargaining unit to "non-unit

enpl oyees.” Non-unit enployees are defined as other enployees

of the enployer who are either in another bargaining unit or who

are not in any bargaining unit.® Since the Foundation is a

“Rialto Unified School District (1982) PERB No. 209,
pages™ 45 (transfer of counseling work from district enployees
in a certificated bargaining unit to district enployees in a
classified bargaining unit); Solano County Conmunity Coll ege
District (1982) PERB No. 219, pages 89 (transter of off-canpus
and tutoring services fromdistrict enployees in a classified
bargaining unit to district enployees in a certificated
bargaining unit); Munt San Antonio Community College District
(1983) PERB No. 334, pages 8-11 (transter of chairperson work
fromdistrict enployees in a certificated bargaining unit to
di strict enployees who were not in any bargaining unit); Coleta
Uni on School District (1984) PERB Decision No. 391, pages 19-20
(transter of counseling work fromdistrict enployees in a
certificated bargaining unit to new district enployees who were
not in any bargaining unit); Eureka Gty School District (1985)
PERB Deci sion No. 481, pages 14-15 (transfer of specla
education work fromdistrict enployees in a certificated
bargaining unit to district enployees in a classified bargaining
unit); State of California (Departnent of Devel opnental Service)
(1985) PERB Decisron NO. 484-S, pages 4-5 (transter of Work
from departnent enpl oyees in a psychiatric technicians
bargai ning unit to departnent enployees in a hospital workers?
bargaining unit); Bldg. Material & Constr. Teansters' Unit v.
Farrell (1986) 41 Tar.30 651, ©6bU-6OL (transter of [Truck

27



separate enployer, and there is no "single enployer” or "alter
ego" relationship whereby the Foundation's enployees could be
consi dered "non-unit enployees” of the District, no unlaw ul
transfer of bargaining unit work is established by the record in
this case.

There being no unlawful transfer of bargaining unit work,
the remaining issue is whether the District unlawfully
"contracted out or subcontracted"” bargaining unit wor k. 3

Simlar to an unlawful transfer of bargaining unit work,
what constitutes inproper "contracting out"” or "subcontracting"

is established by PERB case law, which is also in accord with

driving work fromcity enployees in a teansters' bargaining
unit to new city enployees who were not in the teansters'
bargaining unit); Soule dass & Gazing Co. v. NLRB (1st Cir.
1981) 652 F. 2d 1055_tIU7_ERRNF278T__2797_2799] {’srngl e

enpl oyer" case involving transfer of glass replacenent wor k
from bargai ning unit enployees in the "union" conpany to

non- bargai ning unit enployees in the "non-union" conpany);
Boei ng Conpany v. NLRB (9th Cir. 1977) 581 F.2d 793 [99 LRRM
Z8AT7] (transtér of "wel'di ng work from conpany enpl oyees in one
bargai ning unit to conpany enployees in another bargaining
unit); University of Chicago v. NLRB (7th Cir. 1974) 514 F. 2d
942 [89 TRRM ZITI3] (transier of TuUStodi al work from

uni versity's enployees in one bargaining unit to university's
enpl oyees in another bargaining unit); and Ofice &

Pr of essi onal Enployees v. NLRB (D.C. Cir. 1969) 419 F.2d 314
170 LRRM 3047] (transfer of auditing work, along with two
conpany enpl oyees, from a bargaining unit to two new conpany
"exenpt enpl oyee" positions outside of bargaining unit).

°[f there was an unlawful transfer, then there could be
no "contracting out or subcontracting”™ as transfers are
separate from and nmutual |y exclusive of the concept of
contracting out or subcontracting. (Bldg. Material & Constr.
Teansters' Union v. Farrell (1986) 417Car.3d o651, bbL,
ROoseviTTe Jornt~Union H S, District (1986) PERB No. 580, dis.

opn., p. 13) fn 1.)
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private sector case law. An unlawful "contracting out" or
"subcontracting”" occurs where an enployer unilaterally takes
bargaining unit work and contracts with and pays an independent
contractor (e.g. another enployer) for the independent
contractor's enployees to performor supply such work.%®

| cannot agree with ny colleagues that the record before us
denonstrates that the District unlawmfully "contracted out" or

"subcontracted" bargaining unit work.

®Ar choe Uni on School District (1983) PERB No. 360, pages
4, 6-7 (district contiracted wth and paid private firmto have
the private firmis enployees do custodial work which had been
bargai ning unit work of district enployees); Gakland Unified
School District (1983) PERB Decision No. 367, pages 3-4
(orstriTtr contracted with and paid private "tenporary hel p"
agency to have the agency's enployees perform secretari al
and clerical work which was bargaining unit work of district
enpl oyees); El Dorado Uni on Hi gh-School -District (1986) PERB
Deci si on No. ; ; = proposed
decision) (district contracted with and paid G eyhound
Corporation for Geyhound' s enployees to do bus driving work
whi ch was bargaining unit work done by district's bus driver
enpl oyees); Fibreboard Paper Products Corp. v. NLRB (1964)
379 U. S. 203—ti3—t—FEd—2d—233—conmpany—comtrTact ed—wth and paid
an independent contractor to do mai ntenance work at conpany
pl ant, which had been bargaining unit work done by conpany's
enpl oyees); AFC Industries; Inc. v. NLRB (8th Cir. 1979)
592 F 23 422 [I100 LRRM 2710] (conpany contracted with and paid
anot her conpany to do part of trailer hitch work which was
bargainingunit work of the first conpany's enpl oyees); United
Auto Workers v. NLRB (D.C- Cir. 1967) 381 F.2d 265, 266—
[64 LRRM2489] cert; den., 389 U.S. 857 (conpany contracted
with and paid another firmto have firms enpl oyees do
"par ki ng" work which had been bargaining unit work of conpany's
enpl oyees); Westinghouse Electric Corp. (Mansfield Pl ant)
(1965) 150 NLRB 1574 [58 LRRM 1257, 1258-1259]-(conpany—
contracted with and paid various other entities for maintenance
wor k and manufacturing work which the conpany's maintenance
bargai ning unit enpl oyees and manufacturing bargaining unit
enpl oyees had perforned).
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First, the District could lawfully discontinue its offering
and operation of the adult, noncredit, fee-based |anguage
courses. This it could do because such courses were not
mandated by the State. Nor was it unlawful for the District
to arrange for another entity to offer and operate such courses
provided the District itself was not funding or paying the other

entity. (Stani sl aus County Departnent of Education (1985) PERB

Decision No. 556, pp. 3-5 and 6-7, dis. opn.) Receiving
community pressure for the continued offering of the fee-based
courses at issue, the District trustees directed their
superintendent to explore alternatives to the District's
continued offering of such courses. Entities considered as
potential providers of the courses included the city departnent
of parks and recreation, the YMCA, the YWCA; and the Foundation:
The District trustees ultimately requested that the Foundation

offer the courses.’

"Noteworthy in the record is the exchange between the
District trustees when Trustee G ady noved to request the
Foundation to offer the classes, and Trustee French seconded
the noti on:

Trustee French; | second with a question.
["d Tirke To See the notion say that the
District reinstate these foreign classes and
t hat +he nmeans by which—that it would be
under the Foundation and/or various college
cour ses.

Trustee Gady: Well,” M. French, at the
risk or Tosing ny second, | would not accept
t he | anguage because in view of the action
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Second, the District did not pay or fund the Foundation to
offer the courses. |In fact, the contract between the District
and the Foundation required paynent by the Foundation to the
District for the lease of facilities,® publication of the

Foundation's courses in the District's schedule of classes and

certain admnistrative support. The record indicates that the
District, in fact, received $10,570 from the Foundation for the

services that it provided pursuant to the contract in connection
with the Foundation's provision of classes from Septenber to

Novenber 1983.

A sonewhat simlar situation arose in Frenont Union High

School District (1987) PERB Decision No. 651 when, after certain

nonmandat ed courses had been discontinued for a period of years,

taken earlier, in view of the actions that
have been taken throughout this Spring, the
District is not taking any action whatsoever
under Alternative 4 [requesting the
Foundation to offer the classes] to
reinstate these classes but is just informng
the Foundation that it—we wll provide any
assistance that the District has as its--has
available in order for the Foundation to
offer classes to the students that were
previously served by the District; but the
District has nade a—adopted a stance of
cancelling the classes and the District
cannot reinstate the classes wthout
reversing all of its previous position.

8The District was actually subleasing facilities it had
| eased from the San Diego Unified School District. And since
the Foundation, not the District, would be offering the courses
on San Diego USD property, the Foundation was not under the same
m ni num student-age restrictions which San D ego USD had pl aced
on the San Diego Community College District.
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pressure arose in the comunity for the district to restore and
offer the courses again. The Frenont district then went out and
secured the private University of La Verne to offer and operate
the courses, and in connection therewith contracted with the
University of La Verne to lease district classroons for the
courses. As in the instant case, while the Frenont district

sought out the University of La Verne to offer the courses, it

did not pay or fund the University of La Verne to offer and
operate the courses. In Frenont, this Board found no
"contracting out" or "subcontracting." Although there may have
been nore indicia of limted "control” by the District in this
case wWith respect to the choice and operation of the cl asses,
such control did not anmount to “"ultimate control." (Frenont

Uni on Hi gh School District (1987) PERB Decision No. 651, p. 19;

and see Fi breboard Paper Products Corp. v. NLRB (1964) 379 U.S.

203 at 224, Stewart, J., cone.)

| would dismss the charges.
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APPENDI X

NOTI CE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
PUBLI C EMPLOYMENT RELATI ONS BQARD
An Agency of the State of California

After a hearing in Unfair Practice Case No. LA-CE-1905,
San Diego Adult Educators, Local 4289, Anerican Federation of
reachers/Caltfornia Federatron of leachers, AFL-CTOV. San
‘Diego Community College District, in which all parties had the
right To participate, 1t has been found that the District
viol ated Governnment Code sections 3543.5(a), (b), and (c) by
failing to negotiate the decisions (and the effects of such
decisions) to contract with the San Diego Comunity Coll ege
District Foundation to provide foreign | anguage courses that
were formerly provided by the District's adult education
faculty unit enpl oyees.

As a result of this conduct, we have been ordered to post
this Notice and we will:

A. CEASE AND DESI ST FROM

1. Failing and refusing to nmeet and negotiate in good
faith with the exclusive representative by taking unil ateral
action on matters within the scope of representation;
specifically with reference to the decision, and the effects
of the decision, to contract with the San Diego Conmunity
Coll ege District Foundation, Inc. for the provision of
teaching services fornerly provided by nenbers of the adult
education faculty bargaining unit.

2. Denying to the San Diego Adult Educators, Local
4289, American Federation of Teachers/California Federation of
Teachers, AFL-CIO its right to represent unit nenbers by
failing and refusing to negotiate about matters within the
scope of representation.

3. Interfering with enpl oyees represented by the San
D ego Adult Educators, Local 4289, because of the exercise of
their right to select an exclusive representative to neet and
negotiate with the enployer on their behalf by unilaterally
changing matters within the scope of representation without
first providing the exclusive representative with notice and
the opportunity to nmeet and negotiate about such nmatters.



B. TAKE THE FOLLOW NG AFFI RVATI VE ACTI ONS DESI GNED TO
EFFECTUATE THE POLI G ES OF THE EDUCATI ONAL EMPLOYMENT
RELATI ONS ACT:

1. Meet and negotiate with the San D ego Adult
Educat ors Associ ation, Local 4289, about the decisions of June
22 and August 22, 1983 (and the effects of these decisions),
to enter into an agreenent with the Foundation for the
provi sion of foreign |anguage classes that were formerly
taught by unit enployees until the parties reach agreenent or
exhaust the statutory inpasse procedure.

2. Make the enployees laid off August 22, 1983, whole
for any | oss of wages or benefits as a result of the unlaw ul
unilateral change, fromthe effective date of the unilateral
change until the expiration of the contract with the
Foundati on. Should the original contract have been extended
or renewed, the back pay will continue through the succeeding
contract terns.

3. Rescind any current contractual arrangenment wth
the Foundation to provide foreign | anguage courses that were
contracted for on June 22, 1983 and August 22, 1983, until
bar gai ni ng has been conpleted, either by agreenent or unti
i npasse procedures have been exhausted.

4. 1f, within one year of the date this Decision
beconmes final, the District again offers fee-based |anguage
cl asses, offer reinstatement to those enpl oyees who were
pl aced on layoff status by action of the District board of
trustees on August 22, 1983.

Dat ed: SAN DI EGO COVWUNI TY COLLECGE
DI STRI CT

By:

Aut hori zed Representative

TH'S IS AN OFFI I AL NOTI CE. | T MUST REMAIN POSTED FOR AT
LEAST TH RTY (30) CONSECUTI VE WORKDAYS FROM THE DATE OF
PCSTI NG AND MUST NOT BE REDUCED I N SI ZE, DEFACED, ALTERED OR
COVERED BY ANY MATERI AL.
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA
PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD

SAN DIEGO ADULT EDUCATORS. LOCAL 4289. )
AMERICAN FEDERATION OF TEACHERS/ )
CALIFORNIA FEDERATION OF TEACHERS. )
AFL-CIO. )
) Unfair Practice
Charging Party. ) Case No. LA-CE-1905
V. )) FROPOSED DECISION
) (4/28/86)
SAN DI EGO COMMUNI TY COLLEGE DI STRI CT )
)
Respondent . )
)

Appearances: Janes M Gattey. Attorney for San D ego Adult
Educat ors Local 4289. Anerican Federation of

Teachers/ California Federation of Teachers, AFL-CIOQ Liebert.
Cassidy & Frierson by Larry J. Frierson for the San Diego
Community College District.

Before: W Jean Thomas. Adm nistrative Law Judge.

PROCEDURAL _HI STORY

On Decenber 21. 1983. the San Di ego Adult Educators.
Local 4289, American Federation of Teachers/California
Federation of Teachers. AFL-CIO (hereafter Charging Party or
SDAE) filed an unfair practice charge against the San Di ego
Community College District (hereafter Respondent or District).
The charge, as anended April 30. 1984, alleges that the
District violated sections 3543.5(a), (b) and (c) of the

Educati onal Enpl oynent Rel ations Act (hereafter EERA or Act)]'

The Educational Employmat Relations Act is codified at
Government Code section 3540 et seq. Unless otherwise

This Board agent decision has been appealed to
the Board itself and is not final. Only to the
extent the Board itself adopts this decision and
rationale mey it be cited as precedent.




by discontinuing certain fee-based, non-credit foreign |anguage
courses taught by certificated unit enployees represented by
the SDAE and. thereafter, contracting with the San Di ego
Community Col Il ege District Foundation, Inc., (hereafter
Foundation) for the provision of some of the same courses
fornmerly offered by the District's continuing education and
adult program It is further alleged that, prior to taking
this action, the District failed to neet and negotiate with the
SDAE as exclusive representative of the enpl oyees affected by
this action and that the unilateral transfer of courses anounts
to unlawful contracting out of services previously performed by
bar gai ni ng unit enpl oyees.

On May 30. 1984. the Ofice of the General Counsel of the

Public Enpl oynent Rel ations Board (hereafter PERB or Board)

indicated, all statutory references herein are to the
Gover nment Code.

Section 3543.5 states, in pertinent part, as follows;:

It shall be unlawful for a public schoo
enpl oyer to:

(a) Inpose or threaten to inpose reprisals
on enpl oyees, to discrimnate or threaten to
di scrim nate agai nst enpl oyees, or otherw se
to interfere with, restrain, or coerce

enpl oyees because of their exercise of
rights guaranteed by this chapter.

(b) Deny to enployee organizations rights
guaranteed to themby this chapter.

(c) Refuse or fail to neet and negotiate in
good faith with an exclusive representative.



issued a Conplaint based on the anmended charge. Respondent
filed an Answer to the Conplaint on June 25. 1984. raising
several affirmative defenses, including allegations that the
Charge was tine-barred by the statute of limtations provision
contained in section 3541.5(a)(l)?

An informal settlenment conference conducted on
June 29. 1984, failed to resolve the dispute.

Subsequent to the informal conference. Respondent filed a
Motion to Dismss Conplaint (Sunnary Judgnent) on the grounds
that the charge was tine-barred and that it failed to set forth
facts constituting a violation of sections 3543.5(a). (b)
or (c).

The Motion to Dism ss was orally argued by the parties at a
pre-hearing conference held on August 31, 1984. On this sane
date the formal hearing scheduled for Septenber 13
and 14. 1984, was continued, pending a ruling on the tineliness
issue as a threshold jurisdictional question. A ruling on the
Motion to Dism ss was issued October 11. 1984, rejecting the

argunent that the charge was tinme-barred by the statute of

2section 3541.5(a)(l) states as follows:

(a) Any enpl oyee, enployee organization or
enpl oyer shall have the right to file an
unfair practice charge, except that the
board shall not . . . : (1) issue a
complaint in respect of any charge based
upon an alleged unfair practice occurring
nore than six nonths prior to the filing of
t he charge;



[imtations. In the ruling it was concluded that, although the
‘charge was technically deficient at the tine that it was filed
with the PERB on Decenber 21, 1983, that deficiency was
subsequently cured by the Charging Party with no denonstrable
prejudice or harmto the rights of the Respondent as a result
t her eof .

A hearing was conducted in this matter on January 28 and
29, 1985. Post-hearing briefs were filed and the case was
submtted on May 1, 1985.

ELNDI N EA

A Backaqgr ound

The parties stipulated and it is found that the Charging
Party is an enpl oyee organi zation and the excl usive
representative of an appropriate unit of certificated enpl oyees
of the District and that the Respondent is a public schoo
enpl oyer as those terns are defined by the EERA. The SDAE was
granted voluntary recognition in 1976 as the exclusive
representative of a certificated bargaining unit of adult
education instructors which includes, anong others, "al
full-time and part-tinme certificated adult faculty." The unit
consi sts of approximately 1000 enpl oyees. The District is
governed by a five-nenber board of trustees and its chancell or,
who at the tinme of the hearing was Garl and Peed.
Ceographically, the District consists of three main college

canmpuses-- SanDi egoCity, MesaCol | egeand M r amar Col | ege -lih conbi ned have f our ser



At the time of the events giving rise to the instant
charge, the parties were signatories to a collective bargaining
agreenent (hereafter CBA) which, by its terns, was in effect
fromJuly 1. 1981 to June 30. 1984. Article XXI of the CBA
provi ded for reopening of renegotiations over salaries and any
of the salary provisions and any two other articles selected by
each party prior to the end of the contract years 1982 and 1983..
B D : : : ul | . I

On March 9. 1983. the District board of trustees adopted a
resolution to discontinue approximately 14 classes taught on a
non-credit, fee basis in the adult and continui ng education
program including driver inprovenent and all Spanish, French
and German | anguage cl asses, and to decrease the nunber of
enpl oyees in permanent positions requiring certification
qualifications in adult education. This decision was nade
because the District board determ ned that the fee inconme from
t hese courses was not sufficient to support their continuation.
"Fee cl asses" are supported only by the student fees paid
directly to the District, and not by apportionnent funds from
the State or el sewhere.

Following this decision, the District board listened to
presentations by nmenbers of the public who presented petitions
during the May 4, 1983, board neeting, asking that the board
reconsider its action of March 9 cancelling the foreign
| anguage cl asses. The board then referred the matter to

Chancel | or Peed and requested that he develop a list of



alternative funding sources for the discontinued |anguage
classes for the board to consider at a future neeting.

At a special public neeting held on May 23, 1983, the board
formal |y adopted a proposed decision recommendi ng the
term nation of seven adult education faculty, pursuant to the
board's March 9 decision. The board voted to decrease the
nunber of enployees in the adult education division by the
equi valent of 4.1 full-tinme positions. The positions
elimnated were filled by the seven instructors of fee-based
Spani sh, German and French | anguages cl asses. These
instructors were all "contract" or tenured faculty. The driver
i nprovenent instructor was not term nated.

The remaining foreign | anguage, fee classes, which were
taught by tenporary or hourly enpl oyees, were not elim nated.
Those instructors of the fine arts, fee classes (which were
al so discontinued by board action on March 9) were reassigned
to teach non-fee or credit-level classes in their respective
subj ect areas.

Followng this term nation action, the board listened to
addi tional public presentations concerning its March 9
deci si on. It then reviewed a report presenting four
alternative funding sources for the discontinued foreign
| anguage cl asses. Part of the background material included for
this docket (agenda) itemwas a summary of the District's cost
of offering the discontinued courses using contract

instructors. The cost per class was $33-$47 per hour. The



incone fromthese classes, based upon a fee of $1.25 per

i nstructional hour per student (with a mninmumof 15 enrollees
per class), was $18.75 per hour. The summary further stated
that in order for the fees to support the program either the
m ni mum enrol | ment would have to be increased to 27-38 students
per class or the fees would have to be increased to $2.20 $3.13
per hour (based on a mnimmenrollnment of 15 students). The
four alternatives prepared by Chancell or Reed were: (1)
providing the classes as college-level (credit) courses, (2)
requesting that the city departnent of parks and recreations
provi de the courses under its operations, (3) using other
agenci es such as the YMCA or the YWCA and (4) using the San

Di ego Community Col |l ege District Foundation, Inc.

The board then voted for alternative nunber 4 and directed
the chancellor to informthe Foundation that the District
want ed the Foundation to offer certain foreign |anguage classes
which the District had discontinued because of the high costs
of such classes. The chancellor was asked to prepare
contractual |anguage to that effect in order to facilitate the
provi sion of such classes by the Foundati on.

At its board neeting of June 22, 1983, the District board
of trustees reviewed and approved a proposed agreenent between
the District and Foundation which stated, in relevant part, as
foll ows:

WHEREAS, the DI STRICT desires to enter into such
an agreenent with the FOUNDATION for the provision of



certain continuing education fee classes which have been
di scontinued by the DI STRICT due to the limted inconme and
hi gh cost of such cl asses;

NOW THEREFORE. THE PARTI ES HERETO MUTUALLY AGREE

as foll ows:

1. DISTRICT

The DI STRICT hereby agrees to provide services to the
FOUNDATI ON as fol | ows:

a.

Facility usage. C asses provided by the
FOUNDATION in the disciplines covered by this
AGREEMENT may be offered in DI STRICT-1eased or
owned facilities.

Pronmotion. The DISTRICT will include the
FOUNDATI ON cl asses in the DISTRICT' S cl ass
schedules and fliers which are dissem nated to
prospective students.

Supervision. DI STRICT enpl oyees will provide
on-site class supervision, assist in teacher

sel ection and determ nation of class offerings,
coll ect and deposit fees to specified accounts in
accordance wi th FOUNDATI ON procedures, and
provi de other accounting and payroll supportive
services so that funds may be accurately
accounted for and instructors enployed and paid.

Security Services. The DISTRICT will provide as
part of its normal security operations the sane
| evel of security provided to other classes and
services on the site as if the the class were
operated by the DI STRI CT.

I nsurance. The DISTRICT will provide appropriate
i nsurance coverage to insure the sites, security
operations. DI STRICT personnel, etc. The
facilities are to be maintained in a safe and
usabl e conditi on.

2. FOUNDATI ON

The FOUNDATI ON shall provide the follow ng services:

a.

Enpl oyees. The FOUNDATI ON shall provide
appropriate instructional staff for each class.



b. Accounting and payroll services. The FOUNDATI ON
shall pay each instructor in accordance with the
sal ary schedul es of the FOUNDATION. Al payrol
services shall by provided by the FOUNDATI ON,
including the issuance of checks, the filing of
required State and federal reports, taxes, etc.

C. Schedul i ng. The FOUNDATI ON shall provide the
DISTRICT with the classes to be scheduled in a
tinely manner so that such classes can be
publicized to neet DI STRICT publication deadlines
on class schedules and fliers. Information to be
included will be the fee, date, tinme and |ocation
of the class, and the nane of the instructor.

d. | nsurance. The FOUNDATION wi || provide insurance
for all appropriate liability, worker's
conpensation, and other required insurances for
FOUNDATI ON enpl oyees and activities.

COVPENSATI ON

The FOUNDATI ON shall pay the DI STRICT $7.00 (Seven
Dol | ars) per class hour or fraction thereof of actua
cl ass neetings.

| NDEMNI FI CATI ON

FOUNDATI ON shall save and hold harm ess DI STRI CT and
its officers, agents and enployees fromany liability,
clainms or causes of action resulting fromits
activities or those of its officers, agents or

enpl oyees. DI STRICT shall save and hold harm ess
FOUNDATION and its officers, agents and enpl oyees from
any liability, clainms or causes of action resulting
fromits activities or those of its officers, agents,
or enpl oyees.

TERM OF AGREEMENT

The term of this AGREEMENT shall be from

June 22, 1983, until rescinded with 30 days' witten
notice by either party. Term nation of the AGREEMENT
will not affect the duties and obligations of either
party as to instruction that has al ready commenced as
of the effective date of termnation, and as to that
instruction, the AGREEMENT remains in effect until
conpl etion of the course.



This agreenent contained a signature line for Chancellor Peed
as the District representative.

At the District board neeting of August 3, 1983, a nunber
of students and concerned citizens, including Fanny G M| er,
one of the Spanish instructors who was placed on |ayoff status
on May 23, 1983, addressed the board concerning the
cancel l ation of the fee classes in Spanish. Ms. Mller
proposed, on behalf of the other adult faculty whose positions
were termnated, that the District reconsider and reverse its
decision of March 9 to elimnate the foreign | anguage cl asses.
During her presentation. Ms. MIler raised several questions
about the validity of the Foundation as a corporation. The
board referred these questions to the chancellor for a response
and further discussion at a future board neeting.

On August 22, 1983. the board held another special neeting,
at which tine the questions raised at the August 3 neeting were
publicly addressed. Following this discussion and sone
del i beration, the board voted to discontinue all remaining
non-credit, foreign |anguage classes offered through the
continui ng education program and to request that the Foundati on
include these classes in the agreenent that was approved by the
District on June 22, 1983. No explanation was offered in the
record for this latter action by the board.

The parties stipulated that no contract between the

District and the Foundation for the provision of the
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di sconti nued foreign | anguage cl asses, including the

June 22, 1983, contract, was ever presented to the District by
t he Foundati on.

C. The San Dieqo Community College District Foundation. |nc.

The Foundati on was established sonetine around 1973 or 1974
as a general nonprofit corporation under the California General
Nonprofit Corporation Law. Chancellor Peed was involved with
t he devel opment of this organization prior to the beginning of
his enploynent with the District in 1976. The articles of
i ncorporation and the bylaws of the Foundation were amended in
June 1983 to change the status of the organization to a
nonprofit, public benefit corporation pursuant to section
5310(b) (1) of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit
Corporation Law. The stated purpose and objective of the
Foundation is to assist and pronote the educational activities
of the District. The Foundation, which has no nmenbers, is
governed by a five-nenber board of directors. According to the
June 1983 anmendnents to the byl aws, each individual nenber of
t he Foundation board is to be designated by a menber of the
District board of trustees. Prior to the June 1983 anmendnent,
it is unknown how the board nenbers were selected. The
Foundation board fornmerly met on a nonthly basis. The anended
byl aws provide for quarterly neetings.

Chancel | or Peed has held various adm nistrative and
el ective positions with the Foundation since its inception.

Until md-June 1983 he served as president of the Foundation.
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The adm nistrative offices of the Foundation are |ocated in
the sane building and on the sane floor as the District's
adm nistrative offices. The Foundation's chief adm nistrator
is an executive director, who at the tine of the hearing was
Hollie Elliott. The Foundation and the District have a
contractual agreenment whereby the Foundation rents office space
fromthe District and the District pays the lessor. The
Foundation owns sone office equi pnent and pays the District for
the use of sone of its equipnent. It also pays the District
for certain other services, including the rental of various
District facilities for its educational activities.

As of January 1985. the Foundation did not have a separate
tel ephone listing for its admnistrative offices. |Instead, it
shared the tel ephone nunber used by Chancellor Peed's office.

The Foundation has approxi mately 20-30 enpl oyees who are
not involved in instructional activities. It has its own
personnel policies, sone of which are patterned after the
District personnel policies and were adopted follow ng the
June 1983 anendnents to the bylaws. The Foundation funds are
managed by a bank which adm nisters the payroll for the
Foundation's enpl oyees. The Foundation has its own checking
and investnent accounts.

The Foundation first began offering educational prograns in
the early 1980's. In 1982, for exanple, the District and the

Foundation entered into a contract for the Foundation to
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perform special coordination services for the District's
contract instructor programwth the United States Navy. The
District and the Foundation also entered into a five-year
contract in 1982 for the District to provide instruction and
grant certificates and other recognition for the Foundation and
its students in various subject areas, as provided for in the
California Education Code section 18300 et seq. The Foundation
al so provided a managenent training programfor the San Di ego
Zoo managenent personnel, offered prograns in such areas as
nursing, real estate, vocational rehabilitation, nmobility
training for the nmentally retarded, a programfor United States
Marine Corps personnel in Yuma, Arizona, and a high schoo

di pl oma program for United States Navy personnef stationed

t hr oughout the Pacific Ocean area.

The salaries of the instructors and/or consultants for
these courses were either negotiated on an individual basis or
based on a schedul e established by the Foundati on.

Followng the District's decision on May 23, 1983, to
contract with the Foundation for the discontinued foreign
| anguage cl asses. Chancellor Peed nmet with the District's site
deans (adm nistrators) on June 2, 1983. concerning the planned
operation of the continuing education classes that woul d be
of fered by the Foundation during the 1983 summer session. That
neeting focused on the involvenent of the deans in providing

"on-site supervision" for the Foundation. Specifically, the
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site deans were to be responsible for assessing the
qual i fications of applicants and selecting the regular and
substitute teachers for the foreign | anguage cl asses. They
were also to review curriculumcontent of the class offerings
to insure that a certain level of quality in the instruction
was nai ntai ned. The deans were also to be responsible for
arrangi ng substitute teacher coverage in event that a regular
t eacher was unable to perform No evidence was presented
concerni ng whether the site deans had responsibility for

eval uating, in any way. the performance of the teachers hired
to teach the Foundation's foreign |anguage classes. The site
deans were also responsible for collecting the student fees for
subm ssion to the Foundation. Chancellor Peed testified that
responsibilities of the site deans, as outlined above, were
what he viewed as the neaning of the "on-site supervision”

services to be provided for the Foundation by the District.

Approxi mately one week following this neeting, the District
continuing education office notified inquiring nenbers of the
public that the foreign | anguage classes which had been
di scontinued by the District would be offered by the Foundation
during the sumer of 1983.

From June 20 to July 29, 1983, the Foundation offered six
Spani sh and French classes at various continuing education

centers. Two fornmer District adult education foreign |anguage
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instructors. Ms. MIller and Carlos Herrera, were anong those
i ndividuals hired by the Foundation to teach the summer cl asses
referenced above.

In the 1983 fall session, the Foundation offered seven
forei gn | anguages courses, including Spanish, French and
German, at six of the District's continuing education centers.
Brigette Hal vorson, a former contract instructor who taught
German, was hired by the Foundation to teach a course in the
fall 1983 session. It is not known if any hourly instructors
enpl oyed by the District prior to August 1983 were subsequently
hired by the Foundation to teach classes in the 1983-84 schoo
year.

In eafly 1984 the District received $10,570 fromthe
Foundation for the services that it provided, i.e., use of
facilities, publication of the classes in the District's class
schedul es and adm nistrative support (for the fall session
cl asses which were taught from Septenber to Novenber 1983).

D. 1983 Negoti ati ons and Meeti ngs Between SDAE and the District

In accord with the reopener provisions of Article XXl of
the CBA, the parties comrenced negoti ations for the 1983-84
school year in early 1983. The SDAE submitted its proposals to
the District sonetine in late January or early February 1983.
SDAE President John Sullivan, 111, was also the chairperson of
the negotiating team The SDAE team consisted of six nenbers

of the bargaining unit. Sullivan was al so a nenber of the
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District executive council, a body which regularly neets with
the chancellor prior to a scheduled District board neeting to
review the board' s docket itens which will be considered at the
forthcom ng neeting.

The chief spokesman for the District negotiating team was
Ceci| Hannan, the director of adm nistrative services and the
person responsible for the District's enployer-enpl oyee
relations. The parties met for negotiations an average of two
times per nonth between March and Novenber 1983.

These negotiations culmnated in an agreenent that was
finally ratified by the parties in Decenber 1983. with terns
retroactive to July 1. 1983. At no tinme during this period of
negotiations did either party nake a specific proposal to the
other to negotiate over any matters related to the District's
decisions to elimnate the foreign | anguage courses, to lay off
instructors affected by these decisions, and to subsequently
contract with the Foundation to provide the discontinued
cour ses.

In md-March 1983 Sullivan was contacted by 17 nenbers of
the bargaining unit concerning the layoff notices that they had
received fromthe District in connection with the District's
March 1983 decision to discontinue certain fee-based adult
education cl asses. In April and May 1983 the SDAE represented

sone of these unit nmenbers in layoff hearings.
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Sul l'ivan was present as an SDAE representative at the
May 23. 1983. District board neeting when the board of trustees
took final action to approve unit nenber |ayoffs, to reduce
unit positions and to contract with the Foundation for the
provision of its discontinued foreign |anguage classes. No
evi dence was presented that Sullivan or any other SDAE
representative registered a protest or objection to the board
at that neeting about the contracting-out decision.

Sonetine in late June 1983 Sullivan went to see Hannan
about the District's May 1983 l|ayoff action. Sullivan and
Hannan net briefly and then agreed to neet again and di scuss
the matter nore fully with Chancel |l or Peed and Raoul Marti nez.
SDAE' s grievance chairperson.

Sul l'ivan. Hannan and Peed nmet on July 20, 1983, without
Martinez who was unable to attend because of another
commtrment. The discussion during this neeting centered on the
feasibility of the District's reinstating the discontinued
classes on a different financial basis than before and
reinstating the teachers who were on layoff. No specific
agreenment or conmtnment was reached at the July 20 neeting
except for sone "understanding." according to Sullivan, that
there woul d probably be another neeting on this subject.
However, no definite date or time was set. No nmention was nade
during this nmeeting that the District was considering the

possibility of elimnating the remaining fee-based foreign
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| anguage cl asses and asking the Foundation to also offer these
cl asses.

Sul livan attended the District executive council neeting
that was held prior to the board' s special August 22, 1983.
neeting. However, there was no discussion at this meeting that
the board woul d be considering a proposal to discontinue the
remai ni ng fee-based foreign |anguage classes in the continuing
educati on program

Fol | owi ng the August 22 board action, SDAE did not neet,
negotiate or discuss with the District the Board' s decision of
August 22 or the effects of this decision. Sullivan testified
that SDAE decided not to pursue the matter for two reasons.
First, SDAE |eadership felt that after the August 22 neeting
there was a change in the attitudes and feelings of the parties
regarding informal resolution of the issue, i.e., both sides
seened | ess receptive. Thereafter, their differences seened to
focus nore on personalities than issues. Secondly, the SDAE
felt that there was inadequate tine between the August 22 board
action and the conmencenent of the fall 1983 semester to effect
any change of the board's actions.

Bet ween March and Novenber 1983, SDAE filed no conplaints
or grievances concerning either the June 22 or the August 22
board decisions to contract with the Foundation for teaching

servi ces.
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E. Rel evant Contract Language

Article Il, sections 2.4 and 2.11. and Article Ill, section
3.2 of the CBA obligated the District to provide SDAE with two
copies of all board docket materials, including all action
itens that the board would be considering at its next meeting.
Sul l'ivan was one of the SDAE representatives designated to
recei ve board docket materials and regularly did so.

Article XVI1l (Reduction in Force) of the CBA contains
provisions related to the layoffs of unit menbers and their
rights to reduction |eave and reinstatenent.

There is no language in the agreenment pertaining to unit
work or the transfer or contracting out of work or services
performed by unit enpl oyees.

| SSUES

1. Is the charge barred by the six-nonths statute of
[imtations established by subsection 3541.5(a)(1)?

2. Should the District and the Foundation be considered a
singl e enpl oyer?

3. If they do not have single enployer status, is the
Foundation a public school enployer under EERA?

4. Did the District, in contracting with the Foundati on
for the provision of its discontinued classes, engage in either
a unilateral transfer or contracting out of bargaining unit
wor k?

5. Did SDAE waive the right to negotiate over the

District's decision to contract with the Foundati on?
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CONCLUSI ONS  OF  LAW
A The Charge is not Tinme-Barred by the Statute of Limtations

Provi sion of Section 3541.5(a)(l)

During the hearing and in its post-hearing briefs, the
Respondent made a notion for reconsideration of the order
denyi ng Respondent's notion to dism ss conplaint on the grounds
that this charge is tine-barred by the statute of limtations
provi sion of section 3541.5(a)(1).3

In its original notion Respondent argued that in accord
wi th PERB Regul ati ons sections 32140 and 32615,4 the filing
of an unfair practice charge is Procedurally defective until
there has been effective service on all opposing parties has
been obt ai ned. In this case the Charging Party filed the
original unfair practice charge with the PERB on
Decenber 21, 1983, one day before the six-nonths statute of
[imtations expired. However, it did not serve a copy of the
charge on the Respondent until January 18. 1984, which was

28 days after the filing date.

3Subsection 3541.5(a)(l) states as foll ows:

(a) Any enpl oyee, enployee organization, or
enpl oyer shall have the right to file an
unfair practice charge, except that the
board shall not do either of the follow ng:
(1) issue a conplaint in respect of any
charge based upon an alleged unfair practice
occurring nore than six nonths prior to the
filing of the charge; .

4PERB Rul es and Regul ations are codified in the Cal .
Adm n. Code, title 8, part Ill. section 31001, et seq.
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Hence, Respondent argued, the charge was not properly "filed"
wthin the statutory tinme period and was thus tine-barred by
t he requirenent of subsection 3541.5(a)(1).

In the order issued by the undersigned, it was concluded
that although the charge was technically deficient at the tine
it was filed with the PERB, the deficiency was subsequently
cured by the Charging Party with no denonstrable prejudice or
harmto the rights of the Respondent as a result
thereof. This ruling was made because under the PERB procedure
utilized for processing an unfair practice charge. Respondent
had both notice of the charge and an opportunity to respond to
the allegations prior to any significant action being taken by
the PERB, including the decision to issue the conplaint.

Since, in this case. Respondent suffered no denial of its due
process rights by the initial delay in service, it was deened
reasonabl e and perm ssible to conclude that the processing of
this charge was not barred by the statute of limtations

provi sion of EERA nor by PERB's admnistrative interpretation
of its own regul ations.

In its notion for reconsideration. Respondent argues that
prej udi ce need not be shown in determning the application of
the statute of limtations. |In support of this contention.
Respondent cites recent private sector case |aw applying the
statute of limtations provision of section 10 (b) of the

Nati onal Labor Rel ations Act (hereafter NLRA) where the court
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of appeal held that a "hybrid" action involving clains of a
breach of contract and duty of fair representation, though
filed wwthin the six-nmonth statute of limtations, was not
served on the parties within that tinme. 1In a "choice of |aw
decision, the court determ ned that section 10 (b) of the NLRA
governed the action and required in "intent, spirit and plain
| anguage” that the conplaint be both filed and served within

the six-nmonth limtations. Sinon v. Kroger (11th Cir. 1984)

743 F.2d 1545 [117 LRRM 2700]

This case is distinguishable fromthe Sinon case. Sinon
involved a single claimpresenting both a federal and a state
cause of action which were each governed by different statutes
of limtations. In deciding on the applicable statute of
[imtations for the claim the court relied on the "Del
Costello" rule adopted by the United States Suprene Court in a

case factually simlar to Sinon. (See Del Costello v.

Teansters (1983) 462 U.S. 151 [113 LRRM 2737].) Del Costello

and Simon are clearly applicable in the case, where a "hybrid"

claimpresents a question with respect to the appropriate
statute of limtations to be applied. However, the case does
not present a "hybrid" claim This charge arises under a State
statute -- the EERA. The applicable statute of limtations
governing this charge is provided by the EERA and the rel evant

interpretations of this statute by PERB.

For the sane reasons that the original notion to dismss

was denied, the nmotion for reconsideration of that order is
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al so denied. The instant charge was not tinme-barred by the
six-nmonths statute of limtations of EERA. Respondent's
renewal of its notion to dismss on this ground is deni ed.

B. The Foundation |Is Not an "Alter Ego" of the District; the

District and the Foundation Are Not a Single Enployer; the
Foundation is Not an Enpl oyer Under EERA

SDAE argues that the operations of the District and the
Foundation are so closely interrelated as to warrant a finding
that they constitute a single enployer for collective
negoti ati ons purposes. SDAE says that the Foundation is, in
effect, the "alter ego" of the District. Thus, the agreenent
between the District and the Foundati on whereby the Foundation
woul d teach classes formerly taught by District enployees
should be viewed as a unilateral transfer of unit work to
non-unit enpl oyees, w thout prior notice to SDAE or an
opportunity for SDAE to neet and negotiate over the propriety
of this action.

The District maintains that the Foundation is a separate
entity that is not a public school enployer within the neaning
of EERA subsection 354O.I(k).5 The District further argues

that the Foundation is not within PERB's jurisdiction since it

5subsection 3540.1 (k) states that,

"Public school enployer™ or "enployer" neans
the governing board of a school district, a
county board of education, or a county
superi ntendent of schools.
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is neither an auxiliary organization created by the District®
nor is it subject to statutory control or regulation by the
District. The Respondent contends that the only obligations
between the District and the Foundation arise fromthe terns of
the contract between them covering the disputed foreign

| anguage cl asses.

Bef ore a concl usion can be nade about the |egal effect of
the contract that the District and the Foundation made in June
and August 1983, it is inportant to examne the nature of the
rel ati onship that exists between these two entities.

This opportunity is taken to distinguish between the
concepts of "single enployer"” and "alter ego" status because it
is evident fromthe Charging Party's argunents during the
hearing and in its post-hearing brief that the two terns have
been used interchangeably. It is unclear whether Charging
Party views the concepts as alternative theories of attack or
actually considers themto be synonynous. [In any event,
regardl ess of which doctrine is applied to the facts of this
case, it cannot be concluded that the District and the

Foundati on are one enpl oyer.

°Cal i f or ni a Educati on Code, section 72670 et seq.
aut hori zes the governing board of a comunity college district
to establish auxiliary organi zations for the purpose of
provi ding supportive services and specialized prograns for the
general benefit of its college or colleges. The District has
auxiliary organi zations, for exanple, which operate the food
services and the student book stores.
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1. Al ter Fgo Argunent

SDAE nmakes its "alter ego" theory argument w thout citing
any statutory or case law in support thereof.

There is no PERB precedent regarding this doctrine. As is
true with many |abor |aw concepts, the "alter ego"” theory has
been devel oped primarily in the private sector. The doctrine
was devel oped by the National Labor Relations Board (hereafter
NLRB) to prevent enployers from evading obligations under the
NLRA nerely by changing or altering their corporate form
Alter ego is applied, when appropriate, to two nomnally
separate business entities as if they were a single continuous
enpl oyer. (A Kkire v. NLRB (4th Cir. 1983) 716 F.2d 1014 [114
LRRM 2180]) To determ ne whether application of the doctrine
is appropriate, the circunstances surrounding a change in
corporate formnust be examned to be determ ned whether the
change resulted in a "bona fide discontinuance and a true
change of ownership or was nerely a "disguised continuance of

the old enpl oyer.™ See NLRB v. Al Coast Transfer. Inc., (6th

Cir. 1986) 780 F.2d 576 [121 LRRM 2393], citing Southport
PetroleumCo. v. NLRB (1942) 315 U.S. 100 [9 LRRM 411].

The NLRB has stated that it will find "alter ego" status
"where the enterprises have one substantially identica
managenment, busi ness purpose, operation, equipnent, custoners
and supervision, as well as ownership." See Crawford Door
Sales Co. (1976) 226 NLRB 1144 [94 LRRM 1393]. If it is

determned that the forner and present enployer are, in
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reality, the same or substantially identical entity, then the
predecessor's labor contract is binding upon the new enpl oyer.

This latter point is the basis for SDAE s argunent that the
Foundation is the "alter ego"” of the District. It asserts that
since the District and the Foundation are. in reality,
substantially identical entities, the Foundation should be
bound by the terns of the CBA between the District and the SDAE
with respect to hours, wages and other terns and conditions of
enpl oynent of its enployees who are performng unit work
formerly provided by enpl oyees of the District.

The threshold |inkage establishing alter ego status is a
show ng of common ownership and control between the predecessor
entity and the successor entity. In this case there is clearly
no indication of comon ownership. The District is a public
school enployer as defined by the EERA and the Foundation is a
nonprofit, public benefit corporation established under the
State Corporation Code. The Foundation does not appear to fal
within the neaning of an "auxiliary organization" as defined by
Cal. Ed. Code, section 72670. The District and the Foundati on
are governed by two separate governing boards. There is no
evi dence of common nenbership on the two boards. The governing
board of the District operates pursuant to numerous powers

y
conferred by the California Education Code. The governi ng

‘see Education Code section 931 et seq
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board of the Foundation operates on the basis of powers granted
by its articles of incorporation and its bylaws. The District
and the Foundation have separate adm nistrative personnel.
Except for the presidency of Chancell or Peed, which ended in

m d-June 1983, there is no evidence that any enpl oyees of the
District were concurrently enployed by the Foundati on.

Al though it is acknow edged that Chancellor Peed hel ped
establ i sh the Foundation and, over the years, has held various
adm ni strative and elective positions with the organi zati on,
this fact al one does not establish comon ownership between the
District and the Foundati on.

There is also insufficient evidence to make a finding that
there is comon control between the two entities. The District
and the Foundati on have separate adm nistrative personnel.
There is no evidence that the District and the Foundation
exerci sed common control over their respective personnel
progranms or the adoption of policies by the governing boards.
Furthernore, there is no evidence of interchange of enployees
between the District and the Foundation which would
denonstrate that these entities aré so closely related that
t hey exercise nmutual control over the enployees of the District
and the Foundation. Nor can it be said that the ternms and
conditions of enploynent are the same for the enpl oyees of the
District and the Foundation as to denobnstrate that there is
common control in the day-to-day operations of the Foundation

and the District. (See Crawford Door Sales Co.. supra.)
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It is therefore concluded that no alter ego status exists

between the District and the Foundati on.

2. Si ngl e Enpl oyer Ar gunment

As an alternative argunent. SDAE contends that the D strict
and the Foundation should be regarded as a single enployer for
col | ective bargaining purposes and. for this reason. PERB
should find that the District and the Foundation engaged in an
unl awful wunilateral transfer of unit work to non-unit
enpl oyees.

The "single enployer"” concept reflects a judgnent that two
or nore business entities nmay properly be considered as one for

varirous statutory purposes.8

The PERB has previously considered the question of whether
two or nore legal entities constituted a single schoo

enpl oyer. See Joint Powers Board of Directors Tulare County

Organi zati on for Vocati onal Education. Regional Occupational

Center and Program (1978) PERB Deci sion No. 57; Fresno Unified

School District (1979) PERB Decision No. 82; Paso Robles Union

School District and San Raphael Cty H gh School District

8The term "single enployer"” is distinct fromthe term
"joint enployer." Even though the terns are used al nost
i nt erchangeably, the NLRB distingui shes between the two.
Joi nt - enpl oyer cases are usually marked by the absence of
common ownership of the enterprises involved and the effective
control of one entity over the working conditions of the
enpl oyees of another entity. (See Morris, The Devel opi ng Labor

Law. (2d Ed. 1983. Vol 11, p. 1444, citations omtted.) See
alrso Turlock School Districts (1977) EERB Order No. Ad-18, at
p. 16 (Prror to Jantuary 1, 1978. PERB was known as the
Educati onal Enploynent Rel ations Board or EERB.)
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(1979) PERB Decision No. 85 and Turlock School Districts (1977)

EERB Order No. Ad-18. In Turlock and Eresno, the Board applied
the Broadcast Service test enployed by the NLRB for determ ning

singl e enpl oyer status. (See Radio and Tel evi si on Broadcast

Technician's Union. lLocal 1264 v. Broadcast Service 380 U. S.

255 [58 LRRM 2545] .

The Broadcast Service test involves the exam nation of four

factors: (1) interrelation of operations; (2) conmnon
managenent, (3) centralized control of Iabor relations and (4)
common ownership or financial control. There is no established
rule about the anmpbunt of weight that is attached when applying
each of these four elenments to a particular case. However,

Charles Morris, the well-known |abor |aw expert notes that,

. si ngl e-enpl oyer status does not
require the presence of all four criteria,
but depends upon all the circunstances of
the particular case. However, certain
factors carry nore wei ght than others.
Common control of |abor relations has been
described as a critical factor, while comon
ownership is least inportant. See Morris,
The Devel opi ng Labor_Law, supra, p. 1442.

In the Turl ock case the Board analyzed all four criteria
and determned that the two school districts in gquestion were

separate enployers within the nmeani ng of EERA. In Fresno the

Board again applied the Broadcast Service test to determ ne
whether the District and a private bus conpany which provi ded
transportation for sonme District pupils were a single enployer

for jurisdictional purposes. In that case, the Board found
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that the District and the bus conpany were separate entities
and that the bus conpany was not a public school enployer
within the neaning of the EERA, nor was the District considered
to be the enployer of the bus conpany's drivers. In Paso

Robl es-San Rafael, the Board did not apply the Broadcast
Service test. Instead, the Board said that the critical
factors in determning single enployer status in that instance
were separate econom c status and exclusive policy-nmaking
authority. The Board, while not expressly rejecting the
Broadcast Service standard in favor of the test applied in Paso
Robl.es, still found that the high school districts in question
were not single enployers for collective bargaining purposes.

The Broadcast Service standard will be applied to the facts

of this case. It appears that there is sone interrelation of
operations between the District and the Foundati on. In Eresna,

for exanple, the Board found interrelation of operations in the
District's involvenent with the pickup schedule, but held that
the designation of routes and pickup tine by the District did
not alter the independent nature of the bus conpany.

By anal ogy here, it is noted that the District does have
control over the scheduling of the foreign |anguage classes
presented by the Foundation. The District's invol venent
i ncludes advertising of the classes in the District's class
schedules and a role in determ ning which classes are to be
presented. Additionally, security at classroomsites is

provided by the District. However, the existence of this
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interrelation of operations is not enough, in and of itself, to
determine that a single enployer relationship exists.

There is also sone evidence of commobn managenent between
the District and the Foundation. Just prior to the date that
the District and the Foundation entered into the contract
concerning the discontinued foreign | anguage cl asses.
Chancel | or Peed was the president of the Foundation.

Chancel |l or Peed's hone address is the address of Foundation's

corporate office The Foundation's adm nistrative or operating
offices are located in the sanme building and on the sane fl oor
as the District admnistrative offices. The tel ephone nunber

for the Foundation's adm nistrative office is the sane as that
for Chancellor Peed's District office.

VWile the requirements of common managenent seemto be
squarely net. it is inportant to note that PERB has di sregarded
common nmanagenent as being significant in determning single
enpl oyer status. In Paso _Robles-San Rafael, the Board held
that an elenmentary school district and an secondary schoo
district should not be considered a single enployer, even
t hough the district shared admnistrative enployees, including
the superintendent and a conmmon adm nistration which
recommended hirings and negotiated on behalf of both districts.

Centralized control of labor relations is perhaps the nost

critical factor in determning single enployer status. In this
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case, it is difficult to determne to what extent the District
and Foundation have centralized control of |abor relations.

Al t hough the Foundation has its own personnel policies, salary
schedul es and payroll procedures, the District "assisted" in
the hiring of Foundation enployees who were to teach the
foreign |anguage classes. It is unclear fromthe facts exactly
what "assist” neans. Although it is evident that the
District's site deans were involved in the initial interview ng
of the instructors selected by the Foundation to teach the
foreign | anguage cl asses, the facts do not indicate what
responsibility the site deans had. if any. for the actua

hiring, pronotion, evaluation or termnation of these

enpl oyees.® . Additionally, there is no indication that the

°I'n Prospect lefferts Garden Nei ghborhood Assoc. (1984)
269 NLRB 114 [116 LRRM 1072], the NLRB held that a nonprofit
corporation and its association nenbers were not a single
enpl oyer where the corporation had performed only paper work
functions in the hiring process of enployees by nenber
organi zations. In this case the nonprofit corporation, which
devel oped prograns and advocacy on behalf of its nenbers (25
nei ghbor hood | ow i ncome housi ng associ ati ons), recomended and
referred eligible CETA workers to its nenbers and set up
interviews for interested menbers. The NLRB found that the
corporation did not have centralized control of |abor relations
because it did not participate in the screening, hiring or
firing of enpl oyees.

Conversely, in North American Soccer Leaque v. NLRB (5th
Cir. 1980) 613 F.2d 1379 [103 LRRM 2796], the court held that a
single enployer relationship was present between a |eague and
its constituent soccer clubs. The court found that the |eague
"exercised a significant degree of control over the selection,
retention and termnation of players.” In addition, the |eague
board of directors was conposed of one representative from each
constituent club.
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District is in any way involved in any contract negotiations or
grievance handling that mght involve Foundation enpl oyees.

Al t hough there is evidence that the District site deans
were also involved in "supervising” the foreign |anguage
classes that were to be taught, the supervision appeared to be
nore an oversight function to insure that the classes were
actually taught as scheduled and that the Foundation's use of
District facilities was in conpliance with District policy.
Wiile it is fairly evident that the Foundation establishes the
wor ki ng condi tions, assignnments, hours, wages and benefits for
the enpl oyees hired to teach the foreign |anguage cl asses, it
is less clear what inpact the District's "supervision” has in
t hese areas beyond that described above. Further, there is no
evi dence what soever that the District has any involvenent in
the labor relations matters of other Foundation enpl oyees. For
t hese reasons, therefore, it is found that there is no common
control of labor relations between the District and the
Foundati on.

The fourth criteria, common ownership or financial control,
is also not present in this case. The Foundation clearly has
separate control over its financial operations. It establishes
the tuition fee to be charged for its courses, sets the salary
of its enployees, has its own bank accounts and payr ol
procedures, and submts its own state and federal tax
statements and any other financial reports that are required.

There is no evidence that the District has any involvenment with
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this aspect of the Foundation's operations. Although the
District collects tuition fees for the foreign |anguage cl asses
presented by the Foundation, it turns this noney over to the

0 In this case it is determ ned

Foundati on for processing.1
that the District serves as a conduit for the funds that it
collects for the Foundation. The collection or channeling of
funds, alone, is not significant in determning financial
control. Additionally, here it does not alter the relationship
bet ween the Foundation and the District. For this reason it is

concl uded that common ownership or financial control is not

present.

In sunmary, it has been found that two of the four criteria

in the Broadcast Service test are satisfied in this case.

However, under PERB precedent where the test has been appli ed,
it appears that the Board does not consider these two factors
—interrelation of operations and conmon nanagenent -- to be
significant enough to establish a single enployer

relationship. Even if the Paso Robles standard -- separate

econom ¢ status and exclusive policy-making authority -- is
applied to these facts, it cannot be found that these criteria
are net. Thus, it is concluded that no single enployer

rel ati onship exists between the District and the Foundati on.

' n Prospect Lefferts Garden Nei ghborhood Assoc., supra,
t he association received CETA funds to pay CETA workers
enpl oyed by nenber organi zations. However, the association was
viewed as a conduit for the funds and, as such, the
rel ati onship between the parties renained separate.
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3. The Foundation is not An Enpl oyer under EERA

Havi ng now determ ned that the District and the Foundation
do not have a single-enployer relationship, it is further
appropriate to deci de whether PERB has any basis for asserting
jurisdiction over the Foundation and its enpl oyees who are
involved in teaching the disputed foreign |anguage cl asses.

Section 3540.1 (k) defines a public school enployer as
fol |l ows:

"Public school enployer" or "enployer" neans
the governing board of a school district, a
school district, a county board of

education, or a county superintendent of
school s.

Subsection 3540.1(j) defines a public school enployee as:
. . . any person enployed by any public
school enpl oyer except persons elected by
popul ar vote, persons appointed by the
CGovernor of this state, nmanagenent
enpl oyees, and confidential enployees.

The Foundation is a nonprofit corporation whose prinmary
obj ective and purpose is to assist and pronote educational
activities of the District. Wiile it is evident that the
District and the Foundati on have had contractual relationships
since at |east 1982. there is no evidence that the Foundation
is an instrunentality or an auxiliary of the District as the
|atter termis statutorily defined. Fromthe record, it
appears that the Foundation does not fall within any of the

~specifically enumerated categories of public enployer as

defined by the Act and is. therefore, not a public schoo
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1 For the sane reason, the enployees of the

enployer.l
Foundati on who teach foreign |anguage classes cannot be
consi dered "public school enployees"” as defined in the EERA
Thus, PERB lacks authority to assert jurisdiction over the
Foundation and its enployees concerning the Foundation's
provi sion of the foreign |anguage classes that were

di scontinued by the District in March and August 1983.

C The District's Agreenent with the Foundation for the

Provi sion_ of the Discontinued Foreign Lanqguage C asses
Anpunted to a Unilateral Rempval of Unit Wrk

As stated earlier. SDAE argues that since the Foundation is
an alter ego of the District, the agreenent between the
District and the Foundation for the Foundation to provide
certain discontinued foreign |anguage classes fornerly taught
by unit enpl oyees should be viewed as an unlawful unil ateral
transfer of unit work to non-unit nenbers.

The District counters this claimby maintaining that it
neither contracted out for services nor transferred unit work
to non-unit enployees. Consequently, there was no obligation
to negotiate over the decision to contract with the Foundation
regarding the courses in question. Instead, the D strict
asserts that it exercised its nmanagenent prerogative to
elimnate a service and lay off affected enpl oyees. Its
subsequent role in procuring foreign |anguage courses for

interested students was limted to responding to comunity

1See Fresno Unified School District, supra, at pp 3-4.
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concerns, identifying alternatives to District-supplied
services, and then, once an acceptable alternative was
identified, to contract with that body, as a an independent
entity, to ensure that community nmenbers continued to receive a
qual ity product which was both convenient and affordable.
Additionally, the District argues that since its conduct with
the Foundation did not involve either contracting out or
transferring of bargaining unit work, it did not violate any of
the District's obligations under the EERA

The main issue here is howto construe the District actions
on June 22, 1983, and agai n on August 22, 1983, when the
District board voted to expand the contract between the
District and the Foundation to include the remaining fee-based
foreign |language classes that were offered by the District's
continui ng education program

The ternms "contract out or subcontract"” and "transfer" of
wor k have al so been carried fromthe private sector to public
enpl oynent. Although no single definition of "subcontracting"
or "contracting out" exists, a review of NLRB cases indicate

that the termnormally relates to the use of personnel outside

a plant to performwork previously perforned by enployees in

12

the bargaining unit. "Transfer of work" cases nornally

12see FEibreboard Paper Products Corp. v. NLRB (1964) 379
U S. 203 [57 LRRM 2609]; Mestinghouse Electric Corp. (Mnsfield
Plant) (1965) 150 NLRB 1574 [58 LRRM 1257]; First Nationa
Mai nt enance Corp. v. NLRB (1981) 452 U. S. 666 [107 LRRM 705] .
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i nvol ve determ ning whether the unit or persons perform ng work

still under the control of the enployer had jurisdiction to
13

perform the work in dispute.

PERB has identified enployer actions to contract out
services or to transfer work from one bargaining unit to
another as distinct subjects and has held that both decisions

(as well as the effects of such decisions) are negotiable.

(See Rialto Unified School District (1982) PERB Deci sion

No. 209; Solano County Community Col l ege District (1982) PERB

Deci sion No. 219; Arcohe Union School District (1983) PERB

Deci sion No. 360 and Qakl and Unified School District (1983)

PERB Deci si on No. 367.)

Al t hough subcontracting of unit work is not specifically
enunerated as a scope itemin section 3543.2.14 the PERB has
applied the Anaheimtest of negotiability to the subject and

13Boei ng Company (1977) 230 NLRB 696 [96 LRRM 1355], enf.
denied (CA 9 1978) 581 F2d 793 [99 LRRM 2847]; University of
Chi cago (1974) 212 NLRB 190 [86 LRRM 1073], enf. denied (CA 9
1975) 514 F2d 942 [89 LRRM 2113]; Office and Professional
Enpl oyees v. NLRB (DC Circ. 1969) 419 F2d 314 [70 LRRM 3047],
enfd. (1968) 168 NLRB 677 [67 LRRM 1029].

14 Section 3543.2 provides in pertinent part as follows:

(a) The scope of representation shall be
l[imted to matters relating to wages, hours
of enploynment, and other terns and

conditions of enploynent. "Terns and
conditions of enploynent” nean health and
wel fare benefits . . . . leave, transfer and

reassi gnnent policies, safety conditions of
enpl oynent, class size, procedures to be
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determ ned that subcontracting of unit work is within scope
under EERA. The basis for this finding is that subcontracting,

C o is a subject logically and reasonably-
related to wages, hours, and transfer and
pronotional opportunities for incunbent

enpl oyees. . . . Actual or potential work
is withdrawmm fromunit enployees, and wages
and hours associated with the contracted-out
work are simlarly withdraw. Further, such
di m nution of unit work weakens the
collective strength of enployees in the unit
and their ability to deal effectively with
the enployer. Such inpact affects work
hours and conditions, and thus is logically
and reasonably related to specifically
enunerated subjects within the scope of
representation. Arcohe Union Schoo
District, supra, pp. 5-6.

In examning this case, it is concluded that the District's
contested actions nore closely resenble a contracting out of
services than a transfer of work fromone bargaining unit to
another. It was determ ned above that the Foundation is not
the alter ego of the District nor do the two entities have a
singl e-enpl oyer relationship. Therefore, there is no basis for
deciding that the District's action in contracting with the
Foundati on anobunted to a transfer of unit work to non-unit
enpl oyees. Rather, it is appropriate that this action should
be characterized as a subcontracting or contracting-out of

servi ces.

used for the evaluation of enployees,
organi zational security . . . . procedures
for processing grievances . . . . and the
| ayoff of probationary certificated schoo
district enployees
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Uni l ateral Action

An enpl oyer conmts an unfair practice in violation of its
duty to bargain in good faith when it unilaterally nmakes a
change in the terns and conditions of enploynent of unit
enpl oyees within the scope of representation w thout notifying

and affording the enpl oyee organi zation an opportunity to

bargain. Pajaro Valley Unified School District (1978) PERB
Deci sion No. 51; _San Mateo Coynty Community College District

(1979) PERB Decision No. 94; _San Francisco Comunity College
District (1979) PERB Decision No. 105.

An unl awful wunilateral change will be found where the
charging party proves, by a preponderance of evidence, that an
enpl oyer unilaterally altered an established policy. Gant
Joint Union H gh School District (1982) PERB Decision No. 196.

The nature of existing policy is a question of fact td be
determ ned froman examnation of the record as a whole. It
may be enbodied in the terns of a collective agreement (Gant.
supra) or. where a contract is silent or anbiguous as to a
policy, it may be ascertained by exam ning past practice or
bargaining history. Marysville Joint Unified School District

(1983) PERB Decision No. 314; Rio Hondo Community College
District (1982) PERB Decision No. 279.

It should be clarified here that this charge does not
challenge the District's original decision in March 1983 to

elimnate certain fee-based foreign |anguage classes, to l|ay
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off unit enployees who taught the classes and elimnate
positions fromthe unit. The right to determ ne whether there
was insufficient work to justify the existing nunber of

enpl oyees or insufficient funds to support the work force is a
matter of fundanental managerial concern which is outside the

scope of representation. See Heal dsburg Union H gh Schoo

District (1984) PERB Decision No. 375. and Newran- Crows Landi ng

Uni fied School District (1982) PERB Decision No. 223 at p. 13.

Al t hough the decision to initiate a layoff is within the
manageri al prerogative, bilateral negotiations are required as
to the effects and inplenentation of such decision.

(Heal dsburg Union H gh School District, supra.)

The evidence discloses that the CBA had a provision
pertaining to reduction in force, |layoff procedure and
reinstatenent rights. Additionally, it is shown that the ,
| ayoffs initiated in March 1983 were carried out in accord with
the relevant contract provisions and was therefore |awful under
the Act.

However, the District's actions on May 23. 1983. follow ng
the inplenmentation of its March 1983 |ayoff decision, show that
a unilateral decision was nmade to contract out services that
had been performed by unit enployees and which the District had
earlier determned to discontinue.

Contrary to the District's assertion that it relinquished
any responsibility for the provision of these courses when it

announced in March 1983 that it was discontinuing certain
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courses, the record shows that it was the District who took the
initiative to consider alternative sources for funding teaching
services that had traditionally been provided by its own

enpl oyees. Even though the board docket for May 23, 1983,
indicated that the board would be discussing and considering
funding alternatives, there is no evidence that the board was
obligated to act as a "procurer" for the community and to
contract with the Foundation for alternative services.
Additionally, there was no contractual authority for the
District to contract out teaching services wthout first
meeting and negotiating with SDAE over the deci sion. If, as
the District asserts, it had truly intended to divest itself of
any interest in the services that it had decided to

di scontinue, the District could have left the initiative for
procuring alternative services to the Foundation or to the
community itself.

The District's unilateral action of August 22, 1983, is
even nore obvious than the June 22, 1983 action. At a special
public neeting of the board on that date, the board voted to
pl ace all remaining fee-based foreign |anguage classes offered
by the continuing education programunder the auspices of the
Foundation. The decision was to include the provision of these
teaching services in the contract that was made with the

Foundati on on or about June 22, 1983.

In essence the August 22 action was specifically designed

to continue services that were to be provided by unit enpl oyees
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through a separate non-District entity. This conduct is

di stingui shed fromthe March action to discontinue services

whi ch were later continued through a separate entity, the
Foundation. It is unknown to what extent this latter decision
i npacted nenbers of the bargaining unit since the remaining
courses were taught by hourly instructors. Additionally, there
is no evidence concerning whether this decision necessitated
any layoffs or led to any elimnation of unit positions.

Nonet hel ess, as the Board held in Arcohe Uni on School District.

supra, both decisions to contract out services resulted in
"actual or potential w thdrawal of work fromunit enployees,
and wages and hours associated with the contracted-out work"
Additionally, these contracting-out decisions altered an
existing District policy and practiée of offering fee-based,
non-credit, foreign |anguage classes through the District's
continui ng education program using adult education
instructors who were unit enployees. This change of policy has
had, by definition, a generalized effect and conti nui ng inpact
upon wages, hours and other ternms and conditions of enploynent

of bargaining unit menbers. Gant Joint Union H gh School

District, supra. Absent a valid defense, such conduct

constitutes an unlawful unilateral change of matters within the

scope of representation in violation of subsection 3543.5(c).

The District's characterization of its role as a nere

procurer "of alternative teaching services" in response to
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community pressure i s not persuasiveﬁﬁ Thus, the District's
argunent against a finding that it contracted out unit work
wi th the Foundation nust be rejected.
D. MWaiver Defenses

Respondent argues in its defense that even if it is
construed that the District contracted out or transferred
bargai ning unit work, the SDAE wai ved whatever rights it my
have had to negotiate over the subject by its acquiescence to a
past practice of the District's subcontracting of bargaining
unit work and by its failure to request negotiations despite
notice and an opportunity to do so.

1. Past Practice

The record shows that prior to June 1983. the District had

entered into agreenents with the Foundation for the Foundation

>Thi s case is distinguished fromthe Board s decision i
St ani sl aus County Departnent of Education (1985) PERB Deci si
No. 556. Stanislaus provides a narrow holding limted to a
uni que factual situation. In that case the Board considered
the issue of whether the County had failed to negotiate its
decision and the effects of that decision to

cease operation of three child devel opnent centers for m grant
children and to select an outside nonprofit corporation to
performthat function. The Board held that the decision to
cease operations was not one appropriately relegated to the
negoti ati ons process because it would have significantly
abridged the enployer's freedomto exercise manageri al
prerogatives essential to its mssion. Since the mgrant child
programwas a federal program federally financed and not
mandated by State law, it was not a county programwhi ch woul d
have survived as such, had federal funds been wi thdrawn. Thus,
since the County's role in the programwas that of a conduit
for federal funds, the County's decision to cease direct
operation, but continue its role as regional admnistrator of
the mgrant program was a matter outside the scope of
representation

n
on

44



to present various educational offerings in such subjects as
real estate, nursing, zoo managenent and mlitary education.
However, there is no evidence that any of these courses were
ever taught by bargaining unit enployees or, in fact, could
have been taught by bargaining unit enployees if the District
had chosen to offer such instruction.

Furthernmore, the District has failed to present any
evi dence that the Foundation has previously offered non-credit
foreign | anguage courses that were previously taught by
District enployees in the continuing education program or that
the parties had ever considered such an arrangenent

For these reasons, it is concluded that the District has
failed to show that there is an established past practice of
the District contracting out unit work to the Foundation. The
past contracts between the District and the Foundation for the
Foundation to sponsor or coordinate educational prograns for
the District did not involve services that had been provided by
adult education unit enployees. Thus, the past practice
argunment is rejected.

2. Fail ure to Request Neqgotiations

Prior to unilaterally changing a matter within scope, an
enpl oyer has the obligation to provide the exclusive
representative of its enployees with notice of. and a
reasonabl e opportunity to negotiate over, the contenpl ated

change. In this regard the District has failed to prove that
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it provided SDAE with prior notice of either decision to
contract out the teaching services or a reasonable opportunity
to negotiate prior to inplenentation of these decisions.

As a first part of this defense, the District asserts that
SDAE had notice of its intent to contract with the Foundation
by virtue of SDAE President Sullivan's regular attendance at
the District executive council neetings which preceded the
board neetings and through information provided in the board's
docket about action itens that were to be considered.

Al t hough it has been shown that SDAE received copies of the
board of trustees' dockets, which included action itens, prior
to the board neetings of May 23, June 22 and August 23, 1983,
the listing of action itens in the agendas was insufficient
notice to SDAE that the District was actually contenplating a
concrete proposal to contract with the Foundati on.

The May 23 docket listed the subject as funding
alternatives for cerfain di sconti nued continuing education
classes to be presented for the board' s consideration and
di scussion. However, there was nothing in the docket which
indicated that the board would make a firm decision on that
date to contract for services with any of the alternative
services that were presented.

The June 22 docket, which contained a proposed agreenent
between the District and the Foundation for such cl asses, was
an indication that the District had already taken steps to

i npl enent its May 23 deci sion.
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The PERB has held that general publication of a board of
trustees agenda does not constitute effective notice of

proposed changes in scope matters. Arvin Union School District

(1983) PERB Deci sion No. 300. Neither does the fact that SDAE
President Sullivan attended District executive counci

nmeetings, where the docket itens were reviewed just prior to
the board neeting, constitute effective notice to SDAE

Los Angeles Community College District (1982) PERB Decision

No. 252.

Nei ther the discussion at the District executive counci
nmeeting prior to the board' s special public neeting on
August 22. 1983, nor the docket of action itens for that
neeting gave any hint that the board was considering a proposa
to discontinue the remaining foreign |anguage cl asses and
include themin the June 1983 contract with the Foundati on.

It is, therefore, found that the District failed to provide
adequate notice to SDAE through its executive council neetings,
the board dockets, or any other effective nmeans of proposed
actions to renove unit work.

In order to prove that SDAE waived its right to negotiate
over the District's decision to contract with the Foundation in
June and August 1983 for services fornerly provided by unit
enpl oyees, the District must show denonstrative behavior on the
part of SDAE waiving a reasonable opportunity to bargain over
the decision and the effects of such decision once it had

notice. San Mateo Community College District (1979) PERB

Deci si on No. 94.
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Even if it is argued that the District gave prior notice,
of its intent, the District failed to provide a reasonable
opportunity for bargaining prior to taking action in May. June
and August 1983.

Al though Sullivan was present at the May 23 board neeting
when the decision was nmade to approve a contractual arrangenent
with the Foundation, it is clear fromthe facts that shortly
after this date, on or about June 6, 1983. the District's
adm nistration took steps to inplenment the decision by neeting
with the site deans to plan for a sunmer session. The District
has offered no explanation for its haste in noving forward with
this program even before the board of trustees had formally
approved the contract with the Foundation. These steps were
taken wi thout SDAE s know edge. Even if SDAE had demanded to
bargain on May 23, it appears that it would have been an act of
futility considering the District's actions shortly
thereafter. Likew se, a SDAE request for negotiations after
the District's approval of the proposed contract on June 22 and
its subsequent action on August 22, 1983 woul d have been
further acts of futility. The failure to undertake a futile

act does not constitute a waiver. Arvin, supra. Here the

District has failed to present any convincing evidence that
SDAE had a reasonabl e opportunity to request bargai ning over
its decisions to contract out unit work and thereby waived its

right by the failure to make a tinely request.
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E. Sunmary
It has been determ ned that the decision in March 1983 to

di scontinue certain continuing education courses, termnate
sone teaching services and institute unit nenber |ayoffs was
within the District's nmanagerial discretion as a matter outside
the scope of representation. However, prior to the District's
deci sion on May 23 and agai n on August 22, 1983, to contract
with the Foundation for the provision of the foreign | anguage
courses traditionally taught by the District's adult education
faculty unit enployees, it was obligated to provide SDAE with
notice of its proposed decisions and a reasonabl e opportunity
to negotiate over the decisions and the effects of such
decisions prior to taking action. The District has failed to
prove that it fulfilled its statutory bargaining obligation
under EERA prior to taking unilateral action on matters within
the scope of representation. It is thus concluded that, by
this conduct, the District violated its duty to negotiate in
good faith with SDAE, the exclusive representative of its adult
faculty bargaining unit. Such unilateral action on a natter
within the scope of representation is a per se refusal to
negotiate in good faith and a violation subsection 3543.5(c).

NLRB v. Katz, supra; _San Francisco Community Coll ege Distrjct

(1979) PERB Deci sion No. 105.
The District's failure and refusal to negotiate w th SDAE

concurrently violates the organization's right as the exclusive
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representative to represent unit nmenbers in their enploynent
relations and interferes with the subject enpl oyees because of
their exercise of representational rights in violation of

sections 3543.5(b) and (a). _San Francisco Community Coll ege
District, supra.

REMEDY
Subsection 3541.5(c) of the EERA enpowers the Board:
.o to issue a decision and order
directing an offending party to cease and
desist fromthe unfair practice and to take
such affirmative action . .. as wll
effectuate the policies of this chapter.

Since it has been found that the District commtted an
unfair practice by unilaterally contracting out bargaining unit
work without first negotiating with the exclusive
representative, it is appropriate to order the District to
cease and desist fromtaking unilateral actions on matters
within the scope of representation without first affording the
excl usive representative SDAE with notice and an opportunity to
negoti ate over such matters.

Absent unusual circunstances, where an enpl oyer has nmade an
unl awful wunilateral change, a renedy requiring the restoration
of the status quo is appropriate to effectuate the purposes of
the Act because it restores, to the extent possible, the

positions the parties occupied prior to the unilateral change.

Qakl and Unified School District (1983) PERB Decision No. 367;

Ri 0 Hondo Community College District (1983) PERB Deci sion

No. 292; Plyconma Veneer Co. (1972) 196 NLRB 1009 [80 LRRM 1222]..
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Accordingly, the D strict will be ordered to rescind
what ever contractual arrangenent it may currently have with the
Foundation to provide the foreign |anguage classes that were
contracted for on June 22, 1983, and, on or about. August 22,
1983, and restore the work to the unit until it has satisfied
its obligations to negotiate with the SDAE over such deci sions
and their effects.

Additionally, the District is ordered to reinstate (at the
earliest practicable tinme) all unit enployees who were placed
on layoff status as a result of the August 22 decision and nake
t hese affected enpl oyees whole for any wages or other benefits
lost as a result of the unlawful unilateral change. Back pay
is to be calculated fromthe effective date of layoff until the
status quo is restored and will be offset by any wages actually
earned during the interimperiod through other enploynent. All
back pay is to include interest at the rate of 10 percent per
annum

Since the original decision on March 9, 1983, to lay off
enpl oyees and the procedure followed in doing so was not
i nproper, there is no basis to order restoration of the
elimnated positions and reinstatenment of those enpl oyees laid
off by the final board action of May 23, 1983. This renedy can
i npose a bargaining obligation on the District only as of the
tinme of its illegal act, which was the contracting out of work,
not the layoffs. However, those enployees affected by the

| ayoffs stiII possess certain legal rights which provided for

51



their possible recall fromlayoff. It is therefore appropriate
to order that those recall rights be reinstated fromthe

effective date of |ayoff. (See _Sol ano County Community Coll ege

District, supra at p. 16.)

It is also appropriate that the District be required to
post the Notice to Enpl oyees attached to this Proposed Deci sion
as Appendi x A, which incorporates the terns of the Proposed
Order. Posting such a notice will provide enpl oyees with
notice that the enployer has acted in an unlawful manner, and
is being required to cease and Idesist fromthis activity. It
al so effectuates the purposes of the Act that enpl oyees be
informed of the resolution of the controversy and will announce
the enployer's readiness to conply with the ordered renedy.

See Placerville Union School District (1978) PERB Deci sion No.

69; Pandol and Sons v. Agricultural Labor Rel ations Board

(1979) 98 Cal.App.3d 580. 587; NLRB v. Express Publishing Co.

(1941) 312 U.S. 426 [8 LRRM 415].

PROPOSED ORDER

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, conclusions of |aw and
the entire record in this case, and pursuant to EERA subsection
3541.5(c), it is hereby ORDERED that the San Di ego Conmunity
College District, its governing board and its representatives
shal | :

A CEASE AND DESI ST FROM

1. Failing and refusing to neet and negotiate in

good faith with the exclusive representative of its adult
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education faculty bargaining unit by taking unilateral action
on matters within the scope of representation, specifically
with reference to the decisions, and the effects of such
decisions, to contract out with the San Diego Community Coll ege
District Foundation, Inc., for the provision of teaching
services fornerly provided by nmenbers of the adult education
faculty bargaining unit.

2. Denying to the San Di ego Adult Educators, Local
4289, Anerican Federation of Teachers. California Federation of
Teachers, AFL-CIO its right to represent unit nenbers by
failing and refusing to negotiate about matters within the
scope of representation.

3. Interfering with enpl oyees represented by the San
D ego Adult Educators, Local 4289, because of the exercise of
their right to select an exclusive representative to neet and
negotiate with the enployer on their behalf by unilaterally
changing matters within the scope of representation wthout
first providing the exclusive representative with notice and

the opportunity to neet and negotiate about such matters.

B. TAKE THE FOLLOW NG AFFI RVATI VE ACTI ONS DESI GNED TO

EFFECTUATE THE POLI CI ES OF THE EDUCATI ONAL EMPLOYMENT
RELATI ONS ACT:

1. Unl ess the parties reach a contrary agreenent,
the District shall rescind any current contractual arrangenent
that it has with the Foundation to provide foreign |anguage

courses that were fornerly taught by its adult education
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faculty unit enployees and restore the work to the unit until
it has satisfied its obligation to neet and negotiate with the
San Di ego Adult Educators Association, Local 4289.

2. Meet and negotiate with the San D ego Adult
Educat ors Associ ation, Local 4289, about the decisions of
June 22 and August 22. 1983, (and the effects of these
decisions) to enter into an agreenent with the Foundation for
the provision of foreign |anguage classes that were fornerly
taught by unit enployees until the parties reach agreenent or
exhaust the statutory inpasse procedure.

3. Reinstate all elimnated positions and offer
enpl oynent to unit enployees placed on layoff status as a
result of the August 22, 1983, contracting out deci sion.

Addi tionally, nake these enpl oyees whole for any |oss of wages
or benefits as a result of unlawful unilateral change, fromthe
effective date of the unilateral change until the status quo is
restored.

4. Restore all reinstatenent rights to enpl oyees who
were placed on layoff status by action of the District board of
trustees on May 23, 1983.

5. Wthin ten (10) workdays fromservice of the
final decision in this matter, post at all school sites and al
other work |ocations where notices to unit enployees are
customarily placed, copies of the Notice to enployees attached

as an Appendi x hereto. The Notice nust be signed by an
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aut hori zed agent of the District indicating that the D strict
wWill conply with the terms of this Order. Such posting shal
be maintained for a period of thirty (30) consecutive

wor kdays. Reasonable steps shall be taken to insure that the
notice is not reduced in size, altered, defaced or covered by
any other material.

6. Upon issuance of a final decision, nmake witten
notification of the actions taken to conply with the Oder to
the Los Angel es Regional Director of the Public Enploynment
Rel ati ons Board in accordance with the director's instructions.

Pursuant to California Adm nistrative Code, title 8.
part 111. section 32305. this Proposed Deciéion and Order shal
becone final on May 19, 1986. unless a party files a tinely
statenent of exceptions. In accordance with the PERB
Regul ations, the statenent of exceptions should identify by
page citation or exhibit nunber the portions of the record, if
any. relied upon for such exceptions. See California
Adm ni strative Code, title 8, part Ill, section 32300. Such
statenment of exceptions and supporting brief nust be actually
received by the Public Enploynent Relations Board itself at the
headquarters office in Sacranento before the close of business
(5:00 p.m) on May 19, 1986. or sent by telegraph, certified or
Express United St at es mai |, postmarked not later than the |ast

day for filing in order to be tinely filed. See California
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Adm nistrative Code, title 8 part Ill. section 32135. Any
statenent of exceptions and supporting brief nust be served
concurrently with its filing upon each party to this
proceeding. Proof of service shall be filed with the Board
itself. See California Adm nistrative Code, title 8, part |11,
section 32300 and 32305.

Dated: April 28, 1986

W. JEAN THOMAS
Administrative Lav Judge
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